Agenda Annex

AGENDA
CABINET
Thursday 14 April 2022 at 10.30 am
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS

Members:

Councillor Dawlings (Chairman), Councillors Scott (Vice-Chairman), Fairweather,
March and McDermott

Quorum:

3 Members (to include either the Leader or Deputy Leader)

Agenda Front Page
1

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

(Pages 5 - 6)

2

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on
the agenda. For any advice on declarations of interest; please
contact the Monitoring Officer before the meeting.

(Pages 7 - 8)

3

Notification of visiting Members wishing to speak
To note any members of the Council wishing to speak, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.4, and which item(s) they wish to speak on.

(Pages 9 - 10)

4

Minutes of the meeting dated 17 March 2022
To approve the minutes of a previous meeting as a correct record.
The only issue relating to the minutes that can be discussed is
their accuracy.

(Pages 11 - 18)

5

Questions from Members of the Council
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered.

(Pages 19 - 20)

6

Questions from Members of the Public
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered.

(Pages 21 - 22)

Page 1

Agenda Annex
7

Consideration of the Forward Plan as at 5 April 2022
To note any forthcoming items as set out in the Forward Plan.

(Pages 23 - 36)

Leader of the Council
8

Amelia Scott Budget and Update
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 37 - 60)

Economic Development Portfolio
9

PSPO Implementation of ASB Measures
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 61 - 112)

10

*Community Safety Partnership Plan & Strategic Assessment
2022/23
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 113 - 180)

11

Urgent Business
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are
urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

(Pages 181 - 182)

12

Date of Next Meeting
To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is
Wednesday 25 May 2022 (Annual Cabinet).

(Pages 183 - 184)

EXEMPT ITEM(S)
It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded from
the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it may involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue of the
particular paragraph shown on the agenda and on the attached report.
13

Exempt Appendix to Amelia Scott Budget and Update
(Agenda Item 8)
Exempt from disclosure by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
including the authority holding that information.

Democratic Services Team
Tel:
(01892) 554413
Email: Committee@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk

Town Hall
ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS
Kent TN1 1RS

Watch Live
Watch this meeting live via the Council’s website.
Archived recordings of previous meetings are also available.
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts

Page 2

(Pages 185 - 192)

Agenda Annex
Go Paperless
Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!.
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp

Page 3

Agenda Annex
Attending Meetings
Meetings are held in the town hall and are webcast live online.
Any member of the public may attend to watch/listen in person or online live via our website on
the relevant committee’s meeting page. A recording of the meeting will also be available shortly
after the end of the meeting.
All meetings and agenda are open to the public except where confidential information is being
discussed. The agenda of the meeting will identify whether any meeting or part of the meeting is
not open to the public and explain why.

Speaking at Meetings
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and may speak to the Council directly on
any item on the agenda for up to 3 minutes. Members of the public (and any members of the
Council who are not members of the committee) will need to register with Democratic Services
in advance. Please see the agenda item titled Notification of Persons Registered to Speak
for more details.

Coming to the Town Hall
All visitors attending a public meeting at the Town Hall should report to Reception via the side
entrance in Monson Way no earlier than 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.
Seating will be allocated on a first-come-first-serve basis. The Council may alter the number
and location of available seats if necessary on safety or public health grounds.
The public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made available for playback on the
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third party may also record or film
meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being considered, but are requested as a
courtesy to others to give notice of this to the Clerk before the meeting. The Council is not liable
for any third party recordings.
Further details are available on the website www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings or from
Democratic Services

If you require this information in another format
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email
committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

Apologies for Absence
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any apologies for absence.

Page

1 of 1

Page 5

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Apologies for Absence

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Declarations of Interest
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance
with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please
contact the Monitoring Office before the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 7

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Declarations of Interest

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Notification of Persons Registered to
Speak
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To note any members of the Council or members of the public registered to speak, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.4 and 28.6, and
which item(s) they wish to speak on.

Page

1 of 1

Page 9

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Notification of Persons Registered to Speak

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
1
TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET
MINUTES of the meeting held at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells,
TN1 1RS, at 10.30 am on Thursday, 17 March 2022
Present: Councillor Tom Dawlings (Chairman)
Councillors Scott (Vice-Chairman), March and McDermott
Officers in Attendance: William Benson (Chief Executive), Lee Colyer (Director of Finance,
Policy and Development (Section 151 Officer)), Katie Exon (Corporate Property Manager),
Jane Fineman (Head of Finance and Procurement), Sue Oliver (Private Sector Housing
Manager), Stuart Clifton (Housing Services Manager) and Caroline Britt (Democratic
Services Officer)
Other Members in Attendance: Councillors Hamilton and Pound
CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION
CAB138/21

The Chairman invited the Chief Executive to provide an update on the
Borough Council’s response to the conflict in Ukraine which included the
following:
-

-

-

-

-

-

The Government had recently announced and was in the process of
implementing the details of how the UK could accommodate and
support refugees.
Details had already been issued for families currently in the UK where
they could now bring over relatives from Ukraine.
Details of a sponsorship scheme had now been announced. This
would allow UK families to register to host refugees. Further details
were currently being worked up.
The Council had already set up a website that both directed residents
to charities that were offering support and also provided a webform
that allowed residents to register their interest in helping. This
included providing accommodation.
The Council had already received a very positive response.
The Council were engaging locally and nationally with the clear
message that across the board, people were willing to help.
Nationally there were about 150,000 people that had registered their
interest in helping/hosting, but as yet it was unknown as to how many
of this number were within the Borough. Nor was it known how many
Ukrainians that might want to come to this area.
To date, 150 people had registered their interest via the TWBC
website.
Further information would follow in due course, but in the first instance
it was hoped the portal for Ukrainians to seek permission to come to
the UK would be launched week beginning 21 March 2022.
TWBC would be recommending that residents register through the
national portal as this would be the mechanism that would ensure the
necessary checks and protocols would be undertaken.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4
2
APOLOGIES
CAB139/21

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fairweather. Councillor
Hamilton joined the meeting at 11:00am.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
CAB140/21

Councillor March declared a pecuniary interest in Agenda item 13 – Housing,
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021-26 and as advised by
Legal would leave the meeting for this item.

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK
CAB141/21

There were no visiting Members who had registered as wishing to speak.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 10 FEBRUARY 2022
CAB142/21

Members reviewed the minutes. No amendments were proposed.
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 10 February 2022 be
approved as a correct record.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
CAB143/21

In advance of questions, the Chairman agreed that Councillor Pound be
allowed to read the following statement (on behalf of all Labour, Liberal
Democrat and Tunbridge Wells Alliance Members) as follows:
“As Councillor David Scott failed to attend Planning Committee last night to
apologise for his breaches of the Code of Conduct and his quoted words
about opposition Members, I can advise Cabinet today that no opposition
party Member is willing to work with him in any capacity until he is removed
as Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder”.
After the question submitted by Councillor Pound had been answered,
Councillor Scott made the following comments in reply to the statement
above:
-

-

Immediately following receipt of a letter from the Monitoring Officer
(also sent to opposition Members) a request was made to meet with
the Monitoring Officer.
Due to unforeseen circumstances the meeting was delayed and did
not take place until Monday 14 March 2022.
Following the meeting with the Monitoring Officer, a discussion with
the Chair of Planning Committee took place. Given that there was
only 48 hours until the next Planning Committee (16 March 2022), it
was agreed that attendance would be at the following Planning
Committee scheduled for 6 April 2022.

Pursuant to Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.3, Councillor Pound had submitted
the question as follows:
“Is it the intention of this administration to run down access to and the
utilisation of the TN2 Community Centre to the point that it gives up its lease
or is there only a short-term lack of investment in resource, marketing,
community engagement and competitive pricing – and if the latter, is there a

Page 12

Agenda Item 4
3
plan for its regeneration?”
Councillor Dawlings provided the following response:
“TWBC continues to support the TN2 facility which during Covid19 along with
all other similar facilities, has been significantly impacted in terms of what
services could and can be run viably from the centre.
In addition to this, the area around the TN2 has also seen significant new
developments from TCHG’s new residential offer. This has changed the
population makeup in terms of mix of housing ownership, which in turn has
led to a change in service requirements for the area which has also impacted
the TN2.
TWBC has continued to run the TN2 Community Centre 3 evenings a week
with a full programme in place. TWBC has also offered other groups such as
Badminton to use the Centre during the day to enable them to undertake their
activity which suited the needs of the client. Men’s Shed have also continued
using their facility during the day too.
There is still 14 years left to run on the lease from the YMCA to TWBC and
there is no break clause in the lease allowing TWBC to hand back the
building during this period.
The adult education service is shortly about to close as it moves back to the
Amelia Scott. Due to decreasing use of the service in 2019 the Library held a
public consultation and consequently reduced the opening hours.
Despite all these changes, TWBC will continue to support the TN2 and
engage with stakeholders on this building to ensure it continues to deliver a
community benefit longer term and what this could eventually look like.
Supplementary Question:
In the light of the examples given and the activities that are taking place:
- Does the Council find it acceptable that the centre was only open 3
evenings a week and not open at the weekends for public bookings
and the only access during the day was via the key holders.
- Does the Council find it acceptable that the sports hall was not listed
as a sports hall on the Sport England site. In addition it was missing
from the recent strategic outcomes report.
- Does the Council find it acceptable that there was no plan to let out,
utilise or maintain the under croft when KCC moved the pottery back
to the new Amelia Scott building.
- Does the Council find it acceptable that TN2 room hire was more
expensive than St Philips Church.
- Does the Council find it acceptable that being empty during the week,
unbookable at weekends local residents did not consider it an option
for use.
- That ultimately the centre was being run down by stealth.
Councillor Dawlings confirmed the Centre was not being run down by stealth.
Ultimately this was a matter for the local Councillors for Sherwood and the
Head of Facilities at TWBC who was responsible for the management of the
facility.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4
4

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
CAB144/21

There were no questions from members of the public.

CONSIDERATION OF THE FORWARD PLAN AS AT 8 MARCH 2022
CAB145/21

Members considered the plan. No amendments were proposed.
RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan as at 8 March 2022 be noted.

TOWN HALL - APPOINTMENT OF CO-WORKING TENDERER
CAB146/21

Katie Exon, Corporate Property Manager introduced the report set out in the
agenda.
Discussion and questions from Members included the following:
-

-

-

-

The Council were now in a good position to move forward and the
enhancements made would be good news for the town.
The Town Hall would continue to be the responsibility of the Council.
Work was currently taking place to repair the roof and the windows.
Working with the co-partner, the internal of the building would be
refurbished which would include the creation of common facilities e.g.
a coffee shop that would be for the use of the Council and co-workers.
The standard of facilities would be the same for the Council and coworkers.
Access for residents to the Council would remain unchanged.
Access to Councillors and officers would also remain unchanged.
The facilities developed in the Town Hall would be limited for the use
of Council staff, tenants and their visitors. Facilities in the Amelia
Scott would however be open to the public.
The Civic Way outside the Amelia Scott was now pedestrianised with
the view that the buildings would flow together.
There would be an income stream for the Council for the use of 2/3rds
of the building for co-working. This would come in the form of cost
sharing for the running costs of what was an expensive building to
maintain. This would significantly help to balance the revenue budget.
Engagement was important and it was recognised the Town Forum
were not as informed as they should have been.

To note the matter was decided taking the exempt information set out in the
Agenda as read.
RESOLVED –
1. That the Co-working provider supplier D is awarded the tender to
take a lease of part of the Town Hall as outlined in the report,
subject to agreed negotiations of the heads of terms be approved.
2. That the Head of Economic Development and Property, in
consultation with the S151 Officer and the Portfolio Holder for
Finance and Governance be delegated to negotiate and finalise
the heads of terms with the preferred provider for co-working
space be approved.
3. That the Head of Mid Kent Legal Services be given authority to
complete all necessary deeds, leases and agreements and other

Page 14

Agenda Item 4
5
legal documentation and formalities required to deliver the release
and management of the Town Hall for co-working space be
approved.
4. That in line with the Full Council decision of October 2021, the
release of the approved budget be delegated to the Head of
Economic Development and Property, S151 Officer and
Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Finance and Governance to enter into contract with a co-working
provider who has satisfied the Council’s due diligence and
provided a sound business case be approved.
5. That in line with the Full Council decision of October 2021
delegated responsibility be given to the S151 Officer in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance
for the identification of the source of the funding which may include
borrowing or external funding be approved.
REASON FOR DECISION: Entering into an agreement with a co-working
provider to take a lease in part will allow investment that will both preserve
and improve the building. It will further represent savings in operational
costs, provide an income and provide wider community and economic
benefits for the town.
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY QUARTER 3
CAB147/21

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
RESOLVED –
1. That the summary of project performance over quarter 3 2021/2022 at
Appendix A be noted.
2. That the summary of service performance over quarter 3 2021/22 at
Appendix B be noted
3. That the Recovery Plans for quarter 3 2021/22 at Appendices C-J be
noted
REASON FOR DECISION: To monitor the effectiveness of the council’s
actions and plans to meet all of the objectives within the Five-Year Plan,
highlight underperforming areas, and propose actions to remedy any
underperformance to ensure the key objectives are met.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT REPORT QUARTER 3
CAB148/21

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
RESOLVED –
1. That the actual gross and net expenditure for the year and the
sources of income as shown in Appendices B to D be noted
2. That the inclusion of new schemes into the Capital Programme as set
out in notes 4.3 to 4.5 be noted.
3. That the proposed movement between years set out in note 4.6 be
approved
4. That the new Capital Applications detailed in Appendices L and M be
approved.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4
6

REASON FOR DECISION: Managing and forecasting capital expenditure
effectively was vital in order to support all of the services provided by the
Council.
REVENUE MANAGEMENT REPORT QUARTER 3
CAB149/21

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
Discussion and questions from Members included the following:
-

The finance team were congratulated on balancing the budget this
year without having to use reserves.
The economy in the town and across the Borough in general was
starting to recover – the number of premises being occupied and the
recent announcements related to the cinema site and the BHS store
were very welcome.

RESOLVED –
1. That the Quarter 3 next expenditure on services year to date was
£10,094,000, £745,000 less than budget be noted.
2. That by year end the Council anticipates net expenditure of
£15,349,000 on services and this forecast is £325,000 under budget,
an improvement of £315,000 since Quarter 2 be noted.
3. That by year end the Council anticipates receiving an increase in
funding of £1,712,000, an improvement of £240,000 since Quarter 2.
Overall, an improvement to budget of £2,037,000 which will reduce
the budget deficit that was to be met from reserves to a forecast of
£963,000 be noted.
4. That write offs as set out in Paragraph 2.24 and detailed in Appendix J
be approved.
REASON FOR DECISION: To show the actual expenditure on services
compared to the revised budget for the period ending 31 December 2021,
and the forecast outturn position, highlighting significant variances from the
revised annual budget.
TREASURY AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR MANAGEMENT REPORT QUARTER 3
CAB150/21

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
RESOLVED –
1. That the Treasury Management and Prudential Indicator position for
2021/22 be noted.
2. That the forecast for investment and bank interest is £462,000, an
increase of £100,000 from the approved budget of £362,000, and a
further improvement of £30,000 from the Quarter 2 projection be
noted.
REASON FOR DECISION: Ensuring effective cash flow management was
vital in order to support all the services provided by the Council. The interest
received from investments was an important source of income in helping to

Page 16

Agenda Item 4
7
set a balanced budget.
HOUSING, HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 2021-2026
CAB151/21

Sue Oliver, Private Sector Housing Manager introduced the report set out in
the agenda.
Discussions and questions from Members included the following:
-

-

Although there were 63 visits to the website, only 13 replies to the
consultation were received.
Of those who replied to the consultation, most were largely supportive.
Comments were received that related to actions to do more to help
the homeless.
Additional information was requested on the reasons why people
became homeless and the links to the organisations who could help.
Other comments related to requests for an increased supply of
affordable homes, incentives for landlords and access to the private
rented sector.
Another key comment related to looking at what present and future
generations might need and the role of retirement homes.
The Local Plan would deliver more social and affordable housing. In
the last year, approximately 660 new houses were delivered of which
270 were affordable/social housing.

RESOLVED –
1. That the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 20212026 at Appendix A be adopted.
2. That the Housing Advisory Panel reviews and evaluates the action
plans that sit under the four key ambitions every six months, to ensure
that the Council’s priorities remain in the right direction and reflect
local and national priorities be approved.
REASON FOR DECISION: Having a current Strategy would mean the
Council was complying with the Homelessness Act 2002, the Government’s
Rough Sleeping Strategy and that ambitions and aims are in place for the
next five years.
URGENT BUSINESS
CAB152/21

There was no urgent business.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
CAB153/21

The next meeting would be held on Thursday 14 April 2022 commencing at
10:30am at the Town Hall, Tunbridge Wells.

NOTES:
The meeting concluded at 11.30 am.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Questions from Members of the Council
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which due notice has been given
in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered.

Page

1 of 1

Page 19

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Questions from Members of the Council

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Questions from Members of the Public
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which due notice has been given in
accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered.

Page

1 of 1

Page 21

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Questions from Members of the Public

This page is intentionally left blank

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL

FORWARD PLAN
www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan

Notice of Key Decisions / Notice of Private Meetings
Pursuant to the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012

This Plan gives at least 28 days notice if the Cabinet of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council intends to make a key decision1 or
make a decision in private2. Other decisions by the executive are also included on the Plan wherever possible.

Page 23

Relevant documents can be downloaded from the Council’s website or are available on request from: Democratic Services,
Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS or committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk. Documents may be submitted to the
decision maker via Democratic Services.
If it is necessary to hold a meeting in private, the reasons for this are stated alongside the decision. These reasons are
prescribed by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and summarised at the back of this Plan.

If the Council is unable to give 28 days notice, it will publish the reasons for this on its website and at its offices.

Councillor Tom Dawlings
Leader of the Council

Publication Date: 5 April 2022
The most recent version of the Plan supersedes all previously issued versions
Guidance notes are provided at the back of this document

Agenda Item 7

Representations against the intention to make a decision in private can be submitted in writing to Democratic Services no less
than ten working days before the meeting date.

Members of the Cabinet and their respective portfolios
Councillor Tom Dawlings
Finance and Governance
(Leader of the Council)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 24

•
•
•

Strategic Policy
Finance
Property and Estates
Facilities
Operational Partnerships (including Mid
Kent Services)
Revenues and Benefits (including Fraud
and Debt Recovery)
Internal Audit
Legal Services
ICT / Digital Transformation / Cyber
Security
Project and Programme Management
Democratic Services
Human Resources (including Learning and
Development)

Councillor Andy Fairweather
Communities and Wellbeing
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Housing (including Private Sector and
Housing Needs)
Health
Community Centres and Hubs
Community Partnerships
Assets of Community Value
Rural Communities
Younger and Older People
Equalities and Equal Access
Lead Member for Rural Communities
Recycling and Waste Collection
Street Cleaning and Littering
Fly Tipping and Abandoned Vehicles

Councillor Alan McDermott
Planning and Transportation
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning Policy
Strategic Sites and Delivery
Development Management
Heritage and Conservation
Planning Enforcement
Land Charges
Building Control
Parking (on and off-street)
Transportation

•
•
•

Environmental Protection
Environmental Health
Food Hygiene and Health & Safety
Standards in businesses
Corporate Health and Safety
Licensing
Sustainability

Councillor David Scott
Economic Development
(Deputy Leader of the Council)

•
•
•

Economic Development and Tourism
Events (excluding the ice rink)
Business Engagements
Supporting economic recovery across the
Borough
Supporting the Town Centre
Community Safety and CCTV
Lead Member for Royal Tunbridge Wells

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Culture, Leisure and the Arts
Assembly Hall Theatre and Ice Rink
The Amelia Scott
Parks and Grounds Maintenance
Sports and Leisure Centres
Community Grants
Customer Access
Cemeteries and Crematorium

•
•
•

Agenda Item 7

•
•
•
•

Councillor Jane March
Environment, Culture and Leisure

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker
Not before
07/02/22
Leader of the
Council

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Consultation Details

Removal of Restrictive Covenant for land
in Southborough

Report to be
published before
The Council disposed of this piece of land decision is made.
in 1987. The owner has requested the
removal of a restrictive covenant to
enable the construction of one house.

Relevant Officer
John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Key?1
No

Private?2
Full

(Southborough & High Brooms)
14/04/22
Cabinet

Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Page 25

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet of
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council intends to
make a Key Decision in respect of the
following matter which may be made in private
with less than the 28 days’ notice required by
Regulations 5 and 9 of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and
Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2012. Compliance is impracticable for the
reasons as set out in the associated notice.

The report provides an update on progress on
the final stages of fit out and sets out the
current issues impacting upon the programme
and the likely cost due to in programme delay
up to planned opening.
(All Wards)

David Candlin, Head Yes
of Economic
Development and
Property

Part

Agenda Item 7

Furthermore, notice is hereby given that the
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee has agreed that the making of the
decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be
deferred.

Due to the urgent
nature of this
decision it is not
possible to consult
with the Cabinet
Advisory Board

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

25/05/22
Cabinet

25/05/22
Cabinet

Page 26

23/06/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Cabinet

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

Appointment to Working Groups of the
Cabinet
To appoint Borough Councillors to the
following working groups of the Cabinet:
- Community Grants Assessment Panel
- Housing Advisory Panel
- Joint Transportation Board
- Planning Policy working Group
- Public Transport Forum
- Property Asset Oversight Panel
(All Wards)
Appointments to Outside Bodies
To appoint representatives to the Council’s
Outside Bodies.
(All Wards)

All Members will have
been consulted.

Renee Dillon,
Democratic and
Executive Support
Manager

No

Open

All Members will have
the opportunity to
nominate
representatives.

Caroline Britt,
No
Democratic Services
Officer

Open

Land Asset Strategy Sites
Consideration of Land Asset Strategy Sites
within Tunbridge Wells.
(Pantiles & St Mark's; Southborough & High
Brooms)
Consideration of a new lease or freehold
disposal of land at Tunbridge Wells Rugby
Club
Tunbridge Wells Rugby Club have requested
that the Council grant them a new longer
lease or land or consider a freehold disposal
of land at the Rugby Club.
(St John's)

Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Yes

Full

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Max Horgan

No

Full

Agenda Item 7

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

23/06/22
Cabinet

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

23/06/22
Cabinet

Page 27

23/06/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Cabinet

Performance Summary Quarter 4 and End
of Year
To consider an outline of the Council’s
performance against key strategic indicators.
Measures prescribed by Central Government
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the
progress against each of the strategic projects
as at end of March 2022.
(All Wards)
07/06/22
Complaints Summary Quarters 3 & 4
Finance and
A review of the complaints received under the
Governance
Council’s complaints procedure between 1
Cabinet
October 2021 and 31 March 2022.
Advisory Board (All Wards)
07/06/22
Revenue Management Report - Quarter 4
Finance and
To receive the financial position as at the end
Governance
of March 2022.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board
07/06/22
Capital Management Report - Quarter 4
Finance and
To receive the financial position as at the end
Governance
of March 2022.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board
23/06/22
Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Finance and
Management Report - Quarter 4
Governance
To receive the financial position as at the end
Cabinet
of March 2022.
Advisory Board (All Wards)

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

23/06/22
Cabinet

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings

23/06/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Gary Rowland

No

Open

23/06/22
Cabinet

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
12/07/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Annual Report on the use of RIPA
To consider and note details on the use of
covert surveillance under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act by Tunbridge Wells
Borough Council.
(All Wards)
Strategic Risk Register
To approve the annual review of the Council’s
Strategic Risk Register.
(All Wards)

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Lee Colyer, Director No
of Finance, Policy
and Development
(Section 151 Officer)

Open

Property Transaction Report January to
June 2022
The report informs Cabinet of the property
transactions completed under delegated
authority between 1 January 2022 and 30
June 2022.
(All Wards)
12/07/22
Budget Projection and Strategy 2023/24
Finance and
To consider proposals for the draft budget
Governance
(Stage 1 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s
Cabinet
budget).
Advisory Board (All Wards)
12/07/22
Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Finance and
2023/24
Governance
To note the progress that has been made on
Cabinet
the review of the scheme (jointly
Advisory Board commissioned with other Kent Authorities)
and provide options for the public consultation
on the scheme for 2023/24.
(All Wards)

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Part

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Lee Colyer, Director No
of Finance, Policy
and Development
(Section 151 Officer)

Page 28

Report Title, Summary and Ward

28/07/22
Cabinet

Request permission for Zoe Kent, Interim
Public Consultation.
Head of Revenues
The F&G CAB will be
and Benefits
consulted.

No

No

Open

Open

Agenda Item 7

28/07/22
Cabinet

Relevant Officer

Private?2

Advisory
Board

28/07/22
Cabinet

Consultation Details

Key?1

Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

28/07/22
Cabinet

28/07/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

22/09/22
Cabinet

06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Annual Corporate Health and Safety
Report
To note the contents of the report, along with
the work undertaken to secure a safe and
healthy working environment.
(All Wards)
Performance Summary Quarter 1

Page 29

Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

22/09/22
Cabinet

22/09/22
Cabinet

(All Wards)
Revenue Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)
Capital Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)
Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Mike Catling,
Corporate Health
and Safety Advisor

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

22/09/22
Cabinet

06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

To consider an outline of the Council’s
performance against key strategic
indicators. Measures prescribed by
central government through the Single
Data List (SDL) and the progress against
each of the strategic projects as at the
end of June 2022.

Consultation Details

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

27/10/22
Cabinet

11/10/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

27/10/22
Cabinet

Page 30

17/11/22
Cabinet

Full Council
14 December
2022

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Budget Update Report 2022/23
To consider an update on the Budget and the
current financial position of the Council (stage
2 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s
budget).
(All Wards)
11/10/22
*Council Tax Reduction Reduction Scheme
Finance and
2022/23
Governance
To recommend to Full Council potential
Cabinet
changes to the Council Tax Reduction
Advisory Board Scheme for 2023/24 following public
consultation.
(All Wards)
17/11/22
Fees and Charges 2023/24
Finance and
To consider and agree the fees and
Governance
charges set by the Council.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

Lee Colyer, Director No
The Finance and
Governance CAB will of Finance, Policy
and Development
be consulted.

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Zoe Kent, Interim
Head of Revenues
and Benefits

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

(Section 151 Officer)

Agenda Item 7

Economic Development Portfolio – Councillor Scott
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

14/04/22
Cabinet

30/03/22
Communities
and Economic
Development
Cabinet
Advisory Board

*Community Safety Partnership Plan
2022/23 And Strategic Assessment
To recommend to Full Council the annual
Community Safety Partnership Plan for
approval. The Plan presents data on crime
and anti-social behaviour within Tunbridge
Wells Borough and provides an update on
solutions provided to ensure the safety of
residents.
(All Wards)
PSPO Implementation of ASB Measures
Report to Cabinet to consider measures to
address ASB in St John’s Park, Sherwood
Lake and Multi-storey car parks.
(All Wards)

14/04/22
Cabinet

Full Council
27/4/2022

Page 31

30/03/22
Communities
and Economic
Development
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

The Communities and Terry Hughes,
Economic Development Community Safety
Cabinet Advisory Board Manager
will be consulted.

No

Open

Terry Hughes,
Community Safety
Manager

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

Planning and Transportation Portfolio – Councillor McDermott
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker
Not before
16/10/20
Portfolio Holder
for Planning and
Transportation

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward
TWBC Response to Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government
consultation on 'Planning for the Future White Paper' (August 2020)
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government is consulting on proposed
long term changes to the national planning
system. This report sets out the Council’s
response to this consultation.
(All Wards)

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Report to be published
before decision is
made.

Stephen Baughen,
Head of Planning
Services

Key?1
No

Private?2
Open

Page 32

Agenda Item 7

Environment, Culture and Leisure Portfolio – Councillor March
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker
Not before
21/10/21
Portfolio Holder
for Environment,
Culture and
Leisure

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Consultation Details

Page 33

Release of S106 funding, allocated to
Report to be published
support the ongoing expansion of the Car before decision is
Club
made.
The Tunbridge Wells Co-Wheels Car Club
currently has 5 cars in it’s fleet and is
extremely popular, with membership and use
of the car club having grown rapidly. To
ensure car club members are able to access a
car as and when they need it, it is essential to
add additional cars to the fleet. The car club
is managed as a concessions contract and at
no cost to the Council. S106 from developers
contribution has been set aside specifically to
support the expansion of the car club, as part
of a mobility mix alongside public transport,
walking, cycling and taxis. With car clubs
supporting air quality improvements, carbon
reduction and reducing traffic impacts such as
congestion and parking pressure.
(Broadwater; Culverden; Pantiles & St Mark's;
Park; Southborough & High Brooms; St
James'; St John's)

Relevant Officer
Karin Grey,
Sustainability
Manager

Key?1
No

Private?2
Open

Agenda Item 7

Communities and Wellbeing Portfolio - Councillor Fairweather
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

There are no items within the designated timeframe.

Page 34

Agenda Item 7

Guidance Notes
Note 1: KEY DECISIONS
A “key decision” means a decision which is to be taken by the executive of the Council which is likely to:
(a)
result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are over £250,000 as well as otherwise being significant having
regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or
(b)
be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough of Tunbridge Wells.
Note 2: REASONS A MEETING MAY BE HELD IN PRIVATE
In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public may be excluded from a meeting on the grounds that it may involve
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act. The exemption must be by virtue of one or more specified paragraphs which are shown on
the meeting agenda (giving 5 days notice) and, in the case of the Cabinet, on the Forward Plan (giving 28 days notice). The exemptions are summarised as follows:

Paragraph (2) - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

(8)

Information falling within paragraph (3) above is not exempt information by
virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under –
(a)
the Companies Act 1985;
(b)
the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c)
the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d)
the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
(e)
the Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f)
the Charities Act 1993.

(9)

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development
for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General
Regulations 1992.

(10)

Information which –
(a)
falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and
(b)
is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph
8 or 9 above,
is exempt information if and so long as, in all the circumstances of
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Paragraph (3) - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information).
Paragraph (4) - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office-holders under,
the authority.
Paragraph (5) - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Paragraph (6) - Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by
virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Paragraph (7) - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

Agenda Item 7

QUALIFICATIONS:

Page 35

Paragraph (1) - Information relating to any individual.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Amelia Scott Budget and Update
Cabinet on 14 April 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Jane March - Portfolio Holder for Environment, Culture and Leisure and Tom
Dawlings – Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance
Lead Director: Paul Taylor - Director of Change & Communities
Head of Service: Nicky Carter – Head of HR, Customer Service and Culture and David
Candlin - Head of Economic Development & Property
Report Author: Katie Exon – Corporate Property Manager
Classification:
Exempt Appendix A
Exempt Appendix A is exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information relating to the financial or business affairs
of any particular person including the authority holding that information.
Public Interest Test: To consider the information in Exempt Appendix A in public will
prejudice the financial, business affairs and negotiating position of the Council which would
not be in the public interest.
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Portfolio Holder
Cabinet

Date
23 March 2022
21 March 2022
14 April 2022

Recommendations
Cabinet recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:

Page

1 of 9

Page 37

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
1. That Cabinet note that the budget control total for the Amelia Scott will be increased to
£21.27m and the actions proposed to address the increased budgetary requirement.
2. That authority is delegated to the S151 Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder
for Finance and Governance to make available the gross figure of £468k on request
from the Head of Economic Development and Property; and
3. That the S151 Officer be authorised to determine the source of the additional funding
(which may include borrowing) referred to above.

Call-In and Urgency
In accordance with the provisions of Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 14 in Part
4 of the Constitution, the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny hereby gives prior
agreement that this decision is urgent and will not be subject to call-in as delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest.
Signed:

Councillor Patrick Thomson – Chair of Overview and
Scrutiny

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

Since the inception of The Amelia Scott project, Cabinet have received regular
updates on the project. These reports have also been taken to the Cabinet Advisory
Board and councillors more generally have been updated through a series of allcouncillor briefings and through the establishment of a cross-party ‘Amelia Scott
Member Oversight Panel’ (ASMOP).

1.2

Since starting the construction phase on site in January 2019, progress on the project
has experienced a number of significant external pressures including Brexit, Covid-19
and the re-opening of the global economy post Covid and the inflationary shocks
these have impacted on costs, labour and supply chains. These combined events
have had a significant impact on many major capital projects including our own.
Examples of cultural schemes nationally being impacted include Sydney Gardens,
Bath which has seen a 30% increase in costs, schemes in Hull for Queens Gardens
and Albert Avenue Baths have more than doubled in price, while Portsmouth City
Council has made significant additional budget available to meet project prices that
have increased by at least 30%.

1.3

In particular there has been a significant impact on the supply chain and on the cost of
materials. During our construction period the BCIS Materials Cost Index has seen the
overall cost of materials in the index rising approximately 19.7% during this period.

Page

2 of 9

Page 38

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
These cost increases are at a 40 year high. Two of the top three construction
materials with the greatest price change in the twelve months to September 2021,
included for example imported sawn or planed wood which has increased by +73.3%.
Cement and steel have been similarly impacted.
1.4

In addition to this the project has also faced a range of significant issues related to the
buildings and their historic nature as well as construction challenges that have
resulted in the construction base build being significantly delayed. In March 2021 we
reported a revised forecast based on the latest WDI programme, showing an
additional 11-week extension which would mean that the build project would not be
complete until August 2021 at the earliest. Given some of the issues encountered by
WDI, even this forecast to complete the base build proved to be optimistic. However,
practical completion was issued to WDI at the end of December 2021, with an agreed
programme of works relating to snagging, defects list, ‘day 2’ works and building
control items to be finalised.

1.5

The delay to the internal base build works was managed carefully around the Fit Out
and Interpretation team. This was done to ensure that both elements of work, build
and fit out, could be done in tandem, in order to preserve the programme. The project
team continue to proactively manage these impacts, redrafting the programmes to
ensure any potential in delays do not significantly impact the overall costs, though
there is a limit to how this can be minimised as the base build has extended
significantly beyond its contractual dates. Revised Fit Out schedules have been
identified to ensure works remain overall on programme, but again this is not without
additional costs.

1.6

The most significant focus has been to ensure that revisions to the programme have
not added any significant further risk to the opening date. Through the careful
management of the base build and fit out contractors, we remain on track for the
Amelia Scott to be open to the general public on the 28 April 2022, and to align with
Adult Education term time opening on 25 April 2022 as planned.

2. Funding and Fundraising
2.1

On 23 September 2020 Full Council approved a Gross Budget of £19.348 million to
deliver the project with £10 million being funded by the council and the remainder being
funded externally. The Full Council decisions also highlighted that the Council was
underwriting up to £2.46m of fundraising and other opportunities in the budget, many of
which were subject to external applications.

2.2

On 11 March 2021 Cabinet authorised an additional budget of up to £1.26m increasing
the budget control total to £20.6m to address issues outlined in that report. By this point
the underwritten funding in the project included the fundraising (£1.4m) and other
opportunities (£392k) and remained a significant financial risk to the Council.

2.3

Fundraising - The total fundraising now anticipated to be secured is £580,638 with
the recent Swire Foundation award confirmation. The longer term impact of Covid-19
pandemic continues to prove challenging for fundraising with a number of funders
turning their attention to supporting existing organisations hit by the pandemic and the

Page

3 of 9

Page 39

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
economic recovery or, delaying accepting applications until later in the year. In
October 2021 it was concluded that as a result of Covid-19 and the wider impacts
across the economy that total fundraising expectations were to be reduced by £858k.
While the recent award of £30k by the Swire Foundation with a couple of smaller
donations has improve this position, there was still £819k underwritten by the Council
that will not be raised through the fundraising workstream. If any additional fundraising
is secured this will reduce the Council’s total financial contribution, but should be seen
as a benefit rather than being identified as an expectation.
2.4

As late as November 2021 the Council’s overall exposure to underwrite the project
budget was approximately £1.2m based on the reduced fundraising position and other
opportunities that had not been secured. The Council has over the course of the
project examined opportunities generally including the Cultural Renewal Fund. While
some support for the Amelia Scott was secured in CRF1 a bid for CRF2 was
unsuccessful.

2.5

Getting Building Funding - The Council has actively sought other (grant)
opportunities including through the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP)
with applications for LGF (Local Growth Funding) and latterly GBF (Getting Building
Funding) as well as applications under the Levelling Up agenda. In September 2021
the Council through the direct support from Kent County Council and the Kent &
Medway Economic Partnership (KMEP) pressed the case at the SELEP Accountability
Board for the Getting Building Funding for the Amelia Scott.

2.6

SELEP approved, at the Council’s expense, a full business case to be prepared for
technical evaluation to be ready for the November SELEP Accountability Board where
existing projects elsewhere in the SELEP area, which had been given an additional
opportunity to meet their funding commitments would be reconsidered. If one of these
projects failed to meet the conditions, then the Amelia Scott could be considered for
funding if it addressed the business case and technical requirements.

2.7

SELEP Accountability Board on 19 November was able to approve a £1.4m GBF
grant to the Amelia Scott. This approval enabled the Council to address the remaining
£1.2m financial exposure in the budget.

2.8

Project Budget Control Total - The Council established a budget control total of
£20.6m for the project in March 2021, which included the additional budget being
authorised at the time. The successful GBF bid means that of the additional budget
approved in March 2021, approximately £1.07m is being drawn down. The remaining
£188k of that budget is not currently being utilised and sits outside of the £20.6m
budget control total that has been established.

Page

4 of 9

Page 40

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
Project Funding Source

March 2021

Control Total

(£000’s)

(£000’s)

TWBC (Capital and Revenue)

10,000

10,000

TWBC (Capital Reserve – March 2021)

1,262

1,072

KCC

1,700

1,700

Other Opportunities

392

1,400

Arts Council England

886

886

National Lottery Heritage Fund

4,970

4,970

Fundraising Target/ Counterculture/ TASCT

1,400

581

20,609

20,609

Totals

3. Cashflow
3.1

The Council continues to manage the cashflow for the project. The extensive grant
funding from NLHF and ACE means that budget is drawn down in arrears with TWBC
funding until the claim is completed. The cashflow being covered by the Council has
varied between £829k and £345k per month, depending on processing of claims to
funders. The claim for Getting Building Funding was submitted in March and the full
£1.4m has now been paid significantly reducing the cashflow management within the
project at the end of the financial year.

3.2

TWBC is drawing down the KCC money (approx. £979k) in tranches over the next
couple of financial years, a contribution of £350k being recently invoiced. Together
with the final NLHF funding payment of £497k which is not anticipated until March
2025, the Council will have an ongoing obligation to support the cashflow over the
next few years.

4. Budget Pressures and Solution
4.1

Page

5 of 9

The exempt report (attached as Exempt Appendix A) sets out the current position and
the key issues causing the current budget pressures on the completion of the Amelia
Scott.

Page 41

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
5. Revised Budget Control Total
5.1

The exempt report (attached as Exempt Appendix A) sets out the current position and
the key issues causing the current budget pressures on the completion of the Amelia
Scott.

5.2

As a result of the additional budget pressures outlined the projected final account is
£21.27m. Although this means that an increase in capital budget by £657k, with
approximately £189k already authorised by Cabinet in March 2021, the actual
additional budget required to be authorised is an additional £468k.

5.3

The table below sets out the revised control total and additional sums being sought for
approval. Post project completion a committee report will be brought forward to detail
the final account position and summarise issues during the construction programme.
Project Funding Source

Current Control
Total (£000s)

TWBC (Capital and Revenue)

Revised Control
Total (£000s)

10,000

10,000

TWBC (Capital Reserve – March
2021)

1,072

1,262

TWBC (Capital Reserve – March
2022)

0

468

KCC

1,700

1,700

Other Opportunities – GBF

1,400

1,400

886

886

4,970

4,970

581

581

20,609

21,267

Arts Council England
National Lottery Heritage Fund
Fundraising Target/ Counterculture/
TASCT
Totals

6. Fit Out Update
6.1

Fit out of the Amelia Scott has been completed by Factory Settings Limited with
practical completion achieved on the 25 February. Once again the team faced Covid
related challenges however work was completed within the budget envelope and to an

Page

6 of 9

Page 42

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
extremely high standard as shown in the images at Appendix A. This work together
with the work of the basebuild team and the restoration and preservation of the
heritage spaces will ensure that the new integrated office of the Amelia Scott will be
delivered with high quality spaces that the public will enjoy for years to come and will
ensure both the protection of the collection for future generations and that it will be
more accessible than ever before.

7. Consultation and recommendations from the
Cabinet Advisory Board
7.1

Given the time constraints related to completing final works to meet the opening dates
in April 2022 and the significant financial and reputational costs of delaying opening of
the Amelia Scott, following consultation with the Chairman of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Mayor, this decision has been designated an Urgent
Decision under Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 14. However, the issue has
been raised and discussed with both Group leaders and the Amelia Scott Member
Oversight Panel.

8. Implementation
8.1

If agreed, this decision would be delegated to the S151 Officer in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance.

9. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
The Local Government Act 1972, section 111(1) empowers a local authority to do anything
(whether involving the expenditure, borrowing, or lending of money or the acquisition or disposal
of any property or rights) which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the
discharge of any of their functions.
The Council also has a general power of competence pursuant to Section 1 of the Localism Act
2011 which enables it to do anything that individuals generally may do.
Acting on the recommendations specified in this Report is within the Council’s statutory powers
as set out above.
The proposal to delegate authority to the S151 Officer is in accordance with a decision that
Cabinet can make, taking into account the contents of this report to protect the Council’s financial
and commercial interests.
Claudette Valmond,
Interim Head of Legal Partnership

Page

7 of 9

Page 43

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
B. Finance and Other Resources
On 11 March 2021 Cabinet approved a Gross Budget of £20.6 million to deliver the project with
£11.2 million being funded by the council and the remainder being funded externally. The budget
within the capital programme will be increased by the sum outlined in the report and detailed in
the exempt appendix and met from earmarked reserves. The S151 Officer will determine the
source of funding (which may include borrowing) in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Finance and Governance. The budget management of the project will be reported to the Finance
and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board and Cabinet on a quarterly basis.
Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development

C. Staffing
The staffing implications for the project have been set out in the business plan as agreed with the
NLHF as part of the application for funding.

Report Author

D. Risk Management
The project maintains an up-to-date Risk Log which is reviewed by the Amelia Scott Steering
Group and CLH Project Board. The type of construction contract, the nature of the listed
buildings and delivery during a pandemic carries significant inherent risk of additional delay and
additional significant costs (including delays from third parties) that the project has been
managing.

Report Author

E. Environment and Sustainability
There are no specific environmental and sustainability issues arising from this report. The
development of the Amelia Scott will enable a BREEAM Very Good building to be established.

Report Author

F. Community Safety
There are no specific community safety issues arising from this report.

Report Author

Page

8 of 9

Page 44

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

Agenda Item 8
G. Equalities
Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement under the Public Sector Equality Duty (s149 of
the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity between
people from different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people from different groups
ort author to insert comment on if/how the proposals affect equalities issues. Consideration
must be given to our legal obligations.
The project EqIA notes that “the development of the Hub will provide a positive impact on the
local community, increasing access to public and third sector organisations and providing a
nearly fully equality compliant building, to support the long term delivery of public and third
sector organisation in Royal Tunbridge Wells and beyond”.
Report Author

H. Data Protection
The issues raised in this report have little or no relevance to the Data Protection Act 2018 or
the GDPR 2016
Report Author

I. Health and Safety
The project has detailed risk registers and onsite health and safety is the responsibility of
Wilmott Dixon Interiors and Factory Settings. There are no specific health and safety issues
arising from this report.
Mike Catling, Corporate Health and Safety Advisor

J. Health and Wellbeing
No issues are identified.
Report author

Report Appendices
APPENDIX A – Fit Out Update
EXEMPT APPENDIX A – Budget Pressures and Solution

Page

9 of 9

Page 45

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Amelia Scott Budget and Update

This page is intentionally left blank

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

New Galeries, interesting spaces, interactive exhibits
The Atrium

Page 47

Appendix A

The Atrium is at the centre of our building, a flexible space which houses our library and heritage collections as well as providing an area for performance.

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

The Story of the Wells

Page 48

Appendix A

The Story of the Wells gallery looks at the history of Royal Tunbridge Wells: from its legendary beginnings as a holiday resort to its reinvention as a
residential town. The history of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is explored alongside stories of local visionaries such as Sir David Lionel Salomons (18511925) and Decimus Burton (1800-81).

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

The Children’s Library

Page 49

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 50

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 51

Appendix A

The displays in the Children’s Library will engage our young visitors and encourage thought around the questions ‘How did we grow?’, ‘How did we learn?’,
‘What did we wear?’, and ‘What will I be?’.

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 52

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 53

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 54

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

The Origins of Collecting

Page 55

Appendix A

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 56

Appendix A

The Origins of Collection will house our natural history collection. With new and reconditioned display cases (complete with butterflies bursting out and
taking flight) and open storage audiences will be able to get up close to our extraordinary collection.

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

The Georgian Spa

Page 57

Appendix A

The displays in the centre of The Georgian Spa gallery will explore the themes of fashion and personal identity. Through our costume collection we’ll discuss
shifts in fashion in the Georgian era and how dress gave insights into the wearer’s private life.

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

The Workroom

Page 58

Appendix A

The Workroom looks at the diversity of local crafts and how they reflect a long-standing tradition of creative innovation in Tunbridge Wells and its
surrounding areas. The objects on display will highlight local makers’ resourcefulness, ingenuity, and determination. They will provide a glimpse into what
life was like for ordinary people during the 1800s and 1900s.

Fit Out - Photographs

Appendix A

Page 59

Appendix A

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

PSPO 2022 – Introduction of measures
to address anti-social behaviour
For Cabinet on Thursday, 14 April 2022

Summary
Lead Member: David Scott
Lead Director: Paul Taylor
Head of Service: Denise Haylett
Report Author: Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Portfolio Holder
Management Board
Communities CAB
Cabinet

Date
10/03/2022
16/03/2022
30/03/2022
14/04/2022

Recommendations
In accordance with the conditions in Section 59 (2) of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 and with all consultation, publicity and notification having been completed
the followed are agreed:
1. For measure 4 (Sherwood Lake): Implement an order to restrict fishing on the south and
western side of the lake to daytime only (7am-7pm) and an alcohol restriction around the
entire lake.
2. For measure 5 (St John’s Park): Implement a late-night curfew requiring people leave the
park between the hours of 11pm and 5am.
3. For measure 6 (multi-storey car parks): Implement a no loitering, gathering or partaking in
unauthorised non-parking related activities requirement with an express understanding
that rough sleeping does not fall into any of the categories on any order imposed.

Page

1 of 14

Page 61

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
1. Introduction and Background
1.1

A report to Cabinet in December 2021 detailed the results of a Public Spaces
Protection Order public consultation, which ran from 16 July 2021 to 29 August 2021,
with recommendations for measures to address anti-social or unwelcome behaviour
and issues related to the control of dogs.

1.2

Some measures from the 2018 implementation were either discharged, varied or
renewed for a further three years. One new measure, for dog control in Dunorlan Park,
was approved for implementation in 2022.

1.3

The following three outstanding measures are the subject of this report:
1.3.1 Introduce a restriction on fishing along a stretch of the bank at Sherwood Lake
and a wider restriction on alcohol to alleviate residents of a variety of anti-social
behaviours.
1.3.2 Introduce a late-night curfew at St John’s Park to alleviate residents of noisy
anti-social behaviour.
1.3.3 Introduce a restriction on loitering or taking part in specific activities in
Tunbridge Wells town centre multi-storey car parks.

1.4

Public response to the consultation strongly supported measures being taken to
address these issues.

Consultation outcomes: in brief
1.5

In total, across the six measure we consulted on, we received 771 submissions and
1,130 comments. The relevant results are set out in the table below. Columns 2-5
show whether a respondent supported a particular proposal (see 1.3). Columns 6-8
show how many comments were submitted as part of their response.
1

2

3

4

5

Location

Yes

No

Don’t
know

Skipped

Sherwood Lake

403

26

39

303

101

11

4

St Johns Park

419

29

39

284

88

7

7

Multi-storey car parks

479

49

44

199

92

14

13

Page

2 of 14

Page 62

6

7

Voted Voted
Yes
No

8
Don’t
know

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
Consultation Outcomes: Specifics
Measure 4 – Restrictions to address ASB at Sherwood Lake
1.6

A relatively new development in Sherwood has seen a number of residential
properties built close to an existing lake in the woods behind Greggs Wood Road.

1.7

The lake and woods are very popular with local residents and by others who visit from
further afield. The lake is fished by local residents who often stay for extended periods
and it is this presence that is cited as the source of the nuisance behaviour.

1.8

While local police officers and PCSOs have attended the location to address antisocial behaviour in response to calls from local residents, issues that occur late at
night, during weekends and Bank Holidays are less likely to get a speedy response, or
indeed any timely response.

In support of some form of restriction
1.9

A good number of people who live adjacent or close to the lake responded to the
consultation and provided additional information as to the disturbances they have
experienced. The behaviour they have highlighted mostly disturbs them during the
evening and throughout the night, at weekends and during Bank Holidays.

1.10 Behaviours most often mentioned include shouting, swearing (at volume), fighting,
drunkenness, bite alarm noise and dog barking. Additionally, people who enjoy
walking around the lake, some of whom live in Sherwood as well as others who live a
little further afield find all sorts of litter, broken bottles, dog mess and human faeces.
The litter, they say, is typically “strewn across the fishing hot spots”.
1.11 Alcohol use is frequently mentioned in the comments, with some respondents claiming
some users of the lake “are always drinking no matter the time of the day”. There is a
belief that alcohol use at the lake drives much of the reported anti-social behaviour.
1.12 Drug use too, specifically cannabis, is mentioned often but it’s the pungent smell that
causes the most concern for people walking around the lake as well as for families
living nearby. One comment suggests “far too many [people] use the area as a social
gathering for the use of recreational drugs, alcohol consumption”.
1.13 The combination of littered pitches with “bivvies and kit spread across the paths”
which are narrow in places, drunkenness and cannabis use has led some people to
feel “uncomfortable” and “intimidated” and reluctant to make use of what is a fantastic
local facility. One respondent states they “no longer visit the woods because it doesn't
feel safe”. Other comments share a similar reluctance to go there themselves or with
their children.
1.14 A good number of respondents were distressed by the killing of a cormorant, which
appears to have been deliberately targeted, and a duck early in 2021 and this has
added to the reluctance of some locals to use the lake for dog walking or exercise.

Page

3 of 14

Page 63

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
1.15 There were some positive comments amongst those who support some form of control
around the lake, with some respondents stating most people fishing the lake are
friendly, they clean up after themselves and they are more aware of their surroundings
than others who erect bivvies that encroach on the pathways.
1.16 Others recognise that while they don’t live next to the lake they can appreciate that
those who do would be disturbed by some of the behaviour, particularly as some
fishermen spend the entire night (or nights) at the lake.
Not in support of restrictions
1.17 One respondent, who uses the area regularly and does not support our proposals,
tells us they “enjoy seeing people fish at the lake” on their “regular late evening walks”
and that the people they pass are “well behaved and polite”.
1.18 Another says that in the three years they’ve lived nearby there has been “no trouble at
the lake” and the people who spend time there “don’t tend to be overly loud”. Further,
“bite alarms are to be expected” when you live next to a public lake.
1.19 One respondent would rather see an “angling club” set up with “paid membership” and
a committee so that rules may be applied and enforced, claiming there are a “couple
of people that have caused issues” but these are “not proper anglers”.
1.20 Another recognises that the “behaviour of folk can be a challenge” but would rather
that challenge was met with some “understanding and charity, rather than prohibition”.
However, they go on to say they “support the restriction on alcohol” as it is “pathway to
more serious problems”.
1.21 One respondent suggests the proposed PSPO is used to restrict fishing to “daytime
only” and “no bivvies”.
Conclusion
1.22 What’s clear from respondents’ comments is that people on both sides of the
argument care about this area of Sherwood and there is broad acceptance that
residents in nearby properties are disturbed by some of the behaviour at the lake,
particularly during the summer when windows are open and families spend time in
their gardens.
1.23 One or two respondents suggest fishing is banned completely because of the
behaviour it attracts but many others recognise the value of this pastime in this
particular part of the borough. Even those directly affected by the behaviour, and
support some form of restriction, are not calling for a ban and would not support one.
1.24 Some comments suggest there are periods during the summer when the lake is used
extensively and some people stay overnight or longer, including one period of two
weeks. Being locals, they receive regular visitors, and this accentuates all the issues
highlighted above.
1.25 A good number of respondents were quite certain that without enforcement the PSPO
will not address the behavioural issues around the lake.

Page

4 of 14

Page 64

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
Measure 5 – Late night anti-social behaviour at St Johns Park
1.26 St Johns Park is an open space in St Johns ward with access points off Beltring Road
and Reynolds Lane. It is a very well used location popular with families, dog walkers
and young people. It hosts a bowling green, tennis courts, a children’s play area, a
modest skatepark and a meadow.
1.27 Complaints of late night anti-social behaviour have increased over the past two or
three years with young people gathering late in the evening or very early morning.
1.28 Police have attended and moved people on in response to calls from residents living
in nearby properties. However, attendance is dependent on a number of factors and
noise nuisance is not a clear priority when tasking police resources. Further, residents
may be advised to contact the Council when they call 101 late at night.
In support of night-time restrictions
1.29 One respondent who has “lived next to the park for five years” states the anti-social
behaviour has been ongoing “for many years” and “should have been dealt with years
ago”. Another states they have lived “near the park for 18 years” and is willing to “put
up with some noise” but “the drunken/high youngsters leave broken glass” which is
just the final straw.
1.30 A number of local respondents identify similar issues, including often being “woken up
in the night by people yelling and playing loud music”, with one person describing the
late-night gatherings as “mini raves” that go on “late into the night” and another saying
“it’s like a pub garden that never shuts”. Another states “If it is a nice evening, you can
pretty much guarantee it will be ruined by visitors to the park later that night and into
the early hours”.
1.31 Others recall “foul” and “offensive” language, and many highlight the regular “littering”
they find after people have gathered there overnight, including “broken bottles, cans,
general rubbish”, “drug paraphernalia” and even “broken glass in the sandpit”.
1.32 Others have pointed to vandalism in the park and surrounding roads, including “trees,
benches and play equipment” and “damage to cars” and the “paintwork” of other
private property.
1.33 The absence of “Park Wardens” is again mentioned and several respondents took the
opportunity to compliment the former “excellent” groundskeeper who was left with
“such a mess to clear up”.
Not in support of night-time restrictions
1.34 Two respondents, one of whom lives near Grove Park, do not support the curfew on
St John’s Park as we will just be “moving the problem elsewhere”.
1.35 Another suggests it might be enough to “make it clear” that they have to gather
“further into the park away from houses” and to provide “subtle lighting”.

Page

5 of 14

Page 65

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
1.36 Several comments suggest young people need “somewhere to go” or somewhere to
meet” and there’s “nothing else for them to do”.
Conclusion
1.37 Many respondents favour some form of restricted access to the park and some were
grateful that the park was locked at weekends during the summer months of 2021
stating they had “seen an improvement” and “it had an impact”. One local resident of
30+ years suggests the issues started to occur after the council stopped locking parks
many years ago.
1.38 The issue most frequently raised with imposing a curfew is that of enforcement, with
one respondent pointing out we already have “laws against drunkenness, disorderly
behaviour, littering and criminal damage” so “how about enforcing those first before
creating new ones”.

Measure 6 – ASB in town centre multi-storey car parks
1.39 Our town centre multi-storey car parks have often attracted unwelcome behaviour and
while we, as a Council, have done much to address this (particularly in respect of antisocial behaviour caused by rough sleepers) the car parks are still popular with young
people who occasionally gather there to socialise during the early to late evening.
1.40 In response to the consultation 479 respondents favoured restrictions to address antisocial behaviour or loitering in the car parks while 49 were not in favour.
In support of restrictions on people gathering in car parks
1.41 Respondents to this issue rarely highlighted specific activities (such as skateboarding
and free running) as a problem and sympathised with young people who they believe
are using the car parks because “there’s nowhere else for them to go”.
1.42 Even amongst those who would support a ban on loitering in the car parks they
recognise that this would unfairly penalise skateboarders and they would wish the
Council (or others) to provide young people with a “safe space” to enjoy their pastime.
1.43 That said, people have expressed their experiences of coming across groups of
people in car parks, particularly at night, as “intimidating”, “unnerving” and
“disconcerting”. The intimidation, one respondent recognises, may “not be intentional”,
but that is the effect.
1.44 Torrington and Great Hall are mentioned several times with commuters returning to
the car park late in the evening and feeling wary of who they may find there. Rough
sleepers are mentioned a number of times, as a concern, along with “groups hanging
out” to “drink and smoke”.
1.45 Several comments from women point to groups of people loitering in the car parks as
making them feel unsafe, particularly at night.

Page

6 of 14

Page 66

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
Not in support of restrictions
1.46 One respondent who, at some time in the past, used car parks “as a place to chill”
hasn’t witnessed any “negative behaviour” asking us to note that “kids hanging out is
not a negative thing and should not be treated as such”.
1.47 Other respondents want the Council to “show interest” in the skateboarding and BMX
communities. Others wish for us to engage with relevant instructors to provide young
people with an outlet, referencing recent Olympic successes as a reason to encourage
engagement.
1.48 Other respondents would like to see the car parks serve a dual purpose, with times or
levels or specific areas made safe and preserved for skateboarders or free runners,
giving them a sense of “ownership and responsibility” and perhaps under tutelage
from qualified instructors. This was also true of some who supported the proposal.
1.49 Some respondents point to a lack of bins, and public conveniences that are closed of
an evening as reasons why people gathering in these areas leave litter behind or
urinate where they can.
Conclusion
1.50 As with other measures we consulted on there is a great deal of tolerance amongst
the responses, whether in support of restrictions or not.
1.51 The physical activities themselves, whether that’s skateboarding, BMXing or free
running, are not seen as an issue by the vast majority of respondents but there is a
recognition that multi-storey car parks can be intimidating places in their own right,
especially at night and if alone.
1.52 Groups hanging out of an evening cause people to feel anxious, and if they are
boisterous and drinking alcohol or smoking cannabis there’s a greater sense of
unease.
1.53 A number of people suggested the presence of rough sleepers and their pitches can
also be intimidating and contributes to some of the behaviours mentioned above.
However, the definition of ‘loitering’ does not apply to rough sleeping and we will not
be using a PSPO to ban rough sleepers from public spaces.

2. Options Considered
Measure 4 – Sherwood Lake
2.1

Do nothing, dispatch patrols as required or restrict activities to certain parts of
the lake at specific times of the day or year: To do nothing would see no change in
behaviour and a continuation of the complaints outlined in this report. Patrols have
been dispatched in response to residents’ calls about anti-social behaviour affecting
them or their family, but it does not address the issues over the longer term and it
does not encourage behaviour change.

Page

7 of 14

Page 67

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
Measure 5 – St John’s Park
2.2

Do nothing, dispatch patrols in response to complaints, or lock the gates: We
have received regular complaints about late-night anti-social behaviour in the park
over a number of years. If nothing is done this will continue. Patrols attend when they
can and some individuals have been spoken with. We tried locking the gates at
weekends (9pm, Fridays and Saturdays) as often as we could through the summer of
2021. This proved successful, to a degree, but is not sustainable over the longer term
and does not appear to have encouraged behaviour change.

Measure 6 – Multi-storey car parks
2.3

Do nothing, increase security patrols, continue to dispatch outreach workers: To
do nothing would see a continuation of complaints from residents, commuters and
others at a time when we would like to see an increase in visitors to our town. An
increase in security patrols may take place if the order is introduced to ensure people
loitering in the car parks are moved on.

2.4

The order would also support the efforts of the current security detail, who patrol early
evenings, to move people on when anti-social behaviour is identified and there is no
reasonable reason for people to be in the car parks.

2.5

Any order brought in as a result of this report will not seek to prohibit rough sleeping in
car parks.

2.6

The Community Safety Team will continue to dispatch outreach workers, regardless of
the outcome.

3. Preferred Option and Reason
Measure 4 – Sherwood Lake
3.1

Issues at the lake may be resolved by a PSPO if reasonable restrictions are applied
and consistently enforced, while being mindful that the Police and Crime
Commissioner does not want PSPOs to have a negative impact on frontline policing.

3.2

It would therefore seem sensible to consider what other solutions might be available to
us, such as modifying the land to afford greater protection for residents living in close
proximity (i.e. closing swims on the south and western side of the lake) and/or setting
up a licensed angling club which would bring with it an element of self-policing.

3.3

A local provider of fishing equipment and long-time Tunbridge Wells resident offered
advice on the introduction of an angling club and expressed a willingness to be closely
involved in any such endeavour.

3.4

The solutions alluded to above (3.2) will take some time to set up and embed so in the
meantime we recommend that an order is introduced to restrict fishing on the south

Page

8 of 14

Page 68

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
and western side of the lake to daytime only (7am-7pm). We further recommend
alcohol control is introduced to cover the entire perimeter of the lake.

Measure 5 – St John’s Park
3.5

Without enforcement a curfew at St John’s Park is unlikely to stop the reported issues
from occurring. Given that the issues that cause the most disturbance occur late at
night nearby residents would be looking for regular and prompt attendance. However,
this expectation may not be met as the only available resource overnight is Kent
Police. The PCC in his response to our proposals, advised that it is his priority to
ensure any PSPOs have a minimal impact on frontline policing.

3.6

Notwithstanding the issues highlighted in section 3.4 this report recommends a curfew
is placed on St John’s Park from 11pm-5am. Public expectations would have to be
managed carefully, clearly and sensitively and we still have the option of locking the
gates if resources are likely to be scarce or if issues recur persistently within a short
period.

Measure 6 – Multi-storey car parks
3.7

Our preference is for a no loitering, gathering or partaking of non-parking related
activities that would allow for discretionary enforcement by authorised officers.

3.8

Authorised officers would be TWBC staff. While Kent Police would not be the primary
enforcement agency there would be a reasonable expectation that Kent Police officers
would seek compliance with the order if attending relevant locations following a
complaint.

3.9

Conversations took place with outreach agencies such as KCC Early Help, Kenward
Trust and St Giles Trust to ensure they are aware of the restrictions being proposed
as this may have an effect on the work and engagement that takes place with young
people in public spaces.

For all three measures
3.10 When possible, visits to the above locations in response to complaints would be
undertaken by TWBC officers or contracted services.
3.11 Enforcement by way of fixed penalty notice, if required, would also be undertaken by
Council officers, in all situations.
3.12 Police, if called to an area protected by a PSPO, would move people on but may also
take personal details of those breaching the order so that TWBC may consider if
further action is appropriate.
3.13 Kent Police have committed to assigning ‘op info’ (operational information) on
designated locations for the duration of the orders. This would allow a Kent Police call
taker to better assess and prioritise attendance when complaints are received.

Page

9 of 14

Page 69

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
4. Consultation on Options
4.1

This report is the result of a public and stakeholder consultation that ran from 16 July
2021 to 29 August 2021.

4.2

During late-2021, while visiting Sherwood, TWBC’s Community Safety Manager held
several brief (~30 minute) discussions with parties affected by the behaviour at
Sherwood Lake and, separately, with several men who regularly fish at the lake.

4.3

The Police and Crime Commissioner, in his response to the consultation reminded us
that it is his “priority that all PSPO’s have a minimal impact on front line policing” and
encouraged further discussions with local police chiefs, which have taken place.

4.4

Kent Police (CSU) offered broad support of the orders with an understanding that the
availability of resources and other competing priorities will affect attendance, as
outlined to members at a briefing on 4 February 2022.

4.5

Other stakeholders offered broad support for the measures depending on the outcome
of the public consultation.

5. Implementation
5.1

Preparatory work has begun for implementation of the orders at the end of April 2022,
if approved. This includes signage, finalisation of the draft orders, and the necessary
notification and publication.

6. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: PSPO 2022 Order 1 - Sherwood Lake (Fishing)

•

Appendix B: PSPO 2022 Order 2 - Sherwood Lake (Alcohol)

•

Appendix C: PSPO 2022 Order 3 - St Johns Park

•

Appendix D: PSPO 2022 Order 4 - Multi-storey car parks

•

Appendix E: PSPO 2022 Equalities Impact Assessment

•

Appendix F: PSPO 2022 Confirmation of Necessary Actions

Page

10 of 14

Page 70

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
7. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
By s.59 of the 2014 Act, local authorities may make a PSPO if satisfied "on reasonable
grounds" that two conditions are met.
The first condition is that activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have
had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely that activities
will be carried on in a public place within that area and that they will have such an effect.
The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities (a) is, or is likely to be,
of a persistent or continuing nature, (b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities
unreasonable, and (c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.
PSPO’s may prohibit certain actions or may require specified things to be done: s.59(4). In
either case however, the provisions must prevent or reduce the identified detrimental effect.
The Local Authority must carry out the necessary consultation, publicity and notification
before making, extending and/or varying a PSPO.
TBC Robin Harris, Team Leader (Contentious), date

B. Finance and Other Resources
The Council currently has a significant budget deficit for 2022/23 and does not have the
ability to provide additional security. It must also be understood that there is a risk of public
and employee injury associated with anti-social or inappropriate behaviour, for which the
council could be found liable if not deemed to have made every effort to prevent it in spaces
owned and managed by the council.
TBC Jane Fineman, Head of Finance & Procurement, date

C. Staffing
[Report author to insert comment on staffing arrangements including if there are any
implications on staffing levels or structures. If this is covered in the report, the relevant
sections can be referred to here. An HR officer will need to check the report.]
[Name, title and date of HR officer who signed off the report]

D. Risk Management
[Report author to insert comment on managing risks arising from the report including whether
the matter is included in the strategic risk register, or if it should be, how the risks will be
managed. Advice can be sought from the Head of Audit.]

Page

11 of 14

Page 71

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
[Name, title and date of report author]

E. Environment and Sustainability
[Report author to insert comment on if/how the proposals care for the environment.
Consideration must be given to our legal obligations. The Sustainability Officer must be
consulted on the report].
Section 40, National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
40(1) Every public authority must, in exercising its functions have regard so
far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the
purpose of conserving biodiversity.
Section 85, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
85(1) In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to
affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant authority
shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural
beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty.
[Name, title and date of Sustainability Officer who signed off the report.]

F. Community Safety
This report sets out a number of proposals for addressing and reducing anti-social and
unwanted behaviour in key areas, thereby increasing community safety. Conversations
around measures to address anti-social behaviour in areas that are popular with young
people (St John’s Park and multi-storey car parks, for instance) took place at February’s
multi-agency District Contextual Safeguarding Meeting to ensure agencies are sighted on the
potential for the displacement of issues to more sensitive areas.
Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, 09/03/2022

G. Equalities
With regard to the first aim of the general equality duty, we do not consider that the proposed
policy is unlawfully discriminatory. Although there is potential for young people to be affected
by the proposals by the new locations for Public Space Protection Orders, there are a range
of alternatives within the town centre where they can gather.
With regards to fostering good relations the proposals seek to introduce a reasonable and
proportionate response to issues of anti-social behaviour that balances the needs of all those
who use the areas where such behaviour may occur.
Section 149, Equality Act 2010
149(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to –

Page

12 of 14

Page 72

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
Sarah Lavallie, Corporate Governance Officer, 11/03/2022

H. Data Protection
The proposals in this report do not present any changes to how personal data is processed
by the Community Safety Partnership. The Council has appropriate safeguards in place to
keep data secure, including when working with our partners
Article 5, General Data Protection Regulation 2016
1. Personal data shall be:
(a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the data
subject;
(b) collected for specific, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further processed
in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes;
(c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes
for which they are processed;
(d) accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date;
(e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no longer than is
necessary for the purposes for which the personal data are processed;
(f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the personal data,
including protection against unauthorised or unlawful processing and against
accidental loss, destruction or damage, using appropriate technical or
organisational measures.

Sarah Lavallie, Corporate Governance Officer, 11/03/2022

I. Health and Safety
In addition to the issues related to anti-social behaviour and loitering in multi-storey car
parks, and the anxiety this can cause to legitimate users of the car parks, particularly after
dark, TWBC have a responsibility to reduce risks to persons who access and use their areas
of land and property. The TWBC owned areas noted in this report are areas where there has
been a history of issues in the past.
Mike Catling, Corporate Health and Safety Advisor, 15/03/2022

Page

13 of 14

Page 73

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Agenda Item 9
J. Health and Wellbeing
The health and wellbeing of residents has been taken into consideration throughout the
report, specifically in relation to reducing anti-social behaviour, creating safer environments,
and encouraging physical activity opportunities. These measures look to increase local
resident’s mental wellbeing by reducing disturbances, as well as to improve the locations as
areas for residents to exercise and enjoy during the day time..
Rebecca Bowers, Health Improvement Team Leader, 21/03/2022

Page

14 of 14

Page 74

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders implementation 2022

Appendix A

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 - Public Spaces
Protection Order (no. 1 of 2022)
Sherwood Lake
This Order is made by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (“the Council”) and may be
cited as the Public Spaces Protection Order – Town Centre (No. 1 of 2022) (“the
Order”)
1. This Order relates to any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order (“the restricted area”)
2. This Order shall come into force on XX April 2022 and shall have effect for a period
of 3 years thereafter, unless extended by further order under the Council’s statutory
powers
3. This Order is made by the Council in exercise of its powers under section 59 of the
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) having carried out the
necessary consultation and being satisfied on reasonable grounds that:
a. The activities identified below have been carried on in a public place within
the restricted area and have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of
those in the locality, or it is likely that the activities will take place and that
they will have a detrimental effect; and
b. The effect, or likely effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a persistent
or continuing nature, such as to make the activities unreasonable and justifies
the restrictions imposed by the Order
4. The Council has had regard to the rights and freedoms under Article 10 (freedom of
expression) and Article 11 (freedom of assembly and association) as set out in the
European Convention on Human Rights and is satisfied that the restrictions imposed
by this Order are lawful, necessary and proportionate

Page

1 of 4

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Page 75
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

The activities described below are hereby
prohibited:
Fishing and erecting bivouacs
5. No person shall fish, erect bivouacs, tents or similar structures within the restricted
area, as shown on the map in schedule 1, between the hours of 7pm and 7am:

Offence of failing to comply with the Order
6. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:
a. Do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by the Order; or
b. Fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under the
Order
7. Any person who commits an offence is liable on conviction in the Magistrates’ Court
to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale

Fixed penalty notices
8. An authorised officer may issue a fixed penalty notice of up to £100 to anyone who
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under the Act
9. If the fixed penalty notice is not paid the person to whom it is issued remains liable
upon conviction to a fine

Right of appeal
10. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order they may do so
by applying to the High Court on the grounds that the Council did not have power to
make the Order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the
Order; or that a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Act was not complied with
11. An application to the High Court must be made within the period of 6 weeks beginning
with the date on which the Order is made

Page

2 of 4

Page 76

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202221
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Definitions
“authorised officer” means a Police Constable, a designated Police Community
Support Officer or an officer with delegated authority from the Council to enforce the
Order
“interested person” means an individual who lives in the restricted area or who regularly
works in or visits that area
“public place” means any place to which the public or any section of the public has
access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission
“restricted area” means any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order
GIVEN under the Common Seal of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council on the XX day
of April 2022

Page

3 of 4

Page 77

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202221
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Public Spaces Protection Order – Sherwood Lake (no.
1 of 2022)
Schedule 1 – The Restricted Area

Page

4 of 4

Page 78

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202221
Revision: 2

Appendix B

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 - Public Spaces
Protection Order (no. 2 of 2022)
Alcohol control
This Order is made by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (“the Council”) and may be
cited as the Public Spaces Protection Order – Alcohol Control (No. 2 of 2022) (“the
Order”)
1. This Order relates to any public place in the parts of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plans attached at Schedule 1 of this Order (“the restricted area”)
2. This Order shall come into force on XX April 2022 and shall have effect for a period
of 3 years thereafter, unless extended by further order under the Council’s statutory
powers
3. This Order is made by the Council in exercise of its powers under section 59 of the
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) having carried out the
necessary consultation and being satisfied on reasonable grounds that:
a. The activities identified below have been carried on in a public place within the
restricted area and have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those
in the locality, or it is likely that the activities will take place and that they will
have a detrimental effect; and
b. The effect, or likely effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or
continuing nature, such as to make the activities unreasonable and justifies the
restrictions imposed by the Order
4. The Council has had regard to the rights and freedoms under Article 10 (freedom of
expression) and Article 11 (freedom of assembly and association) as set out in the
European Convention on Human Rights and is satisfied that the restrictions imposed
by this Order are lawful, necessary and proportionate

Page

1 of 5

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Page 79Sherwood Lake Public
Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix B

The activities described below are hereby
prohibited:
Consuming alcohol
5. No person shall consume alcohol in the restricted area
6. No person shall be in possession of an open container of alcohol in the restricted area
7. Where an authorised officer reasonably believes that any person has been or intends
to consume alcohol in breach of this prohibition, the authorised officer may require that
person not to consume alcohol in breach of this prohibition and to surrender anything
reasonably believed to be alcohol or a container for alcohol
8. This prohibition does not apply to licensed premises and other premises listed in
section 62 of the Act
9. A requirement imposed by an authorised officer to enforce this prohibition is not valid if
the officer is asked to show evidence of his or her authorisation and fails to do so

Offence of failing to comply with the Order
10. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to fail to comply with a
requirement of this Order
11. When imposing a requirement under this Order, an authorised officer must inform the
person subject to the requirement that failing to comply without reasonable excuse is
an offence
12. Any person who commits an offence is liable on conviction in the Magistrates’ Court to
a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale

Fixed penalty notices
13. An authorised officer may issue a fixed penalty notice of up to £100 to anyone who he
or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under the Act
14. If the fixed penalty notice is not paid the person to whom it is issued remains liable
upon conviction to a fine

Page

2 of 5

Page 80

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix B
Right of appeal
15. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order they may do so by
applying to the High Court on the grounds that the Council did not have power to make
the Order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the Order; or
that a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Act was not complied with
16. An application to the High Court must be made within the period of 6 weeks beginning
with the date on which the Order is made

Definitions
“alcohol” means spirits, wine, beer, cider or any other fermented, distilled or spirituous
liquor, subject to the exemptions set out in s.191 of the Licensing Act 2003
“authorised officer” means a Police Constable, a designated Police Community Support
Officer or an officer with delegated authority from the Council to enforce the Order
“interested person” means an individual who lives in the restricted area or who regularly
works in or visits that area
“public place” means any place to which the public or any section of the public has
access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission
“restricted area” means any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged red
on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order
GIVEN under the Common Seal of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council on the XX day
of April 2022

Page

3 of 5

Page 81

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix B

Public Spaces Protection Order – Alcohol Control
(no. 2 of 2022)
Schedule 1 Sherwood Lake

Page

4 of 5

Page 82

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix B
Description of the area to which the restrictions apply
The area of the lake bounded by, and including, the footpath

Page

5 of 5

Page 83

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Sherwood Lake Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 - Public Spaces
Protection Order (no. 3 of 2022)
St John’s Park
This Order is made by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (“the Council”) and may be
cited as the Public Spaces Protection Order – St John’s Park (No. 3 of 2022) (“the
Order”)
1. This Order relates to any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order (“the restricted area”)
2. This Order shall come into force on XX April 2022 and shall have effect for a period
of 3 years thereafter, unless extended by further order under the Council’s statutory
powers
3. This Order is made by the Council in exercise of its powers under section 59 of the
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) having carried out the
necessary consultation and being satisfied on reasonable grounds that:
a. The activities identified below have been carried on in a public place within
the restricted area and have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of
those in the locality, or it is likely that the activities will take place and that
they will have a detrimental effect; and
b. The effect, or likely effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a persistent
or continuing nature, such as to make the activities unreasonable and justifies
the restrictions imposed by the Order
4. The Council has had regard to the rights and freedoms under Article 10 (freedom of
expression) and Article 11 (freedom of assembly and association) as set out in the
European Convention on Human Rights and is satisfied that the restrictions imposed
by this Order are lawful, necessary and proportionate

Page

1 of 4

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Page 85
St John's Park Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix C

The activities described below are hereby
prohibited during the specified times:
Being within the park boundaries
5. At any time of year between the hours 11.00pm and 5.00am no person shall be
present within the boundaries of the park, as shown in schedule 1:

Offence of failing to comply with the Order
6. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:
a. Do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by the Order; or
b. Fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under the
Order
7. Any person who commits an offence is liable on conviction in the Magistrates’ Court
to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale

Fixed penalty notices
8. An authorised officer may issue a fixed penalty notice of up to £100 to anyone who
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under the Act
9. If the fixed penalty notice is not paid the person to whom it is issued remains liable
upon conviction to a fine

Right of appeal
10. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order they may do so
by applying to the High Court on the grounds that the Council did not have power to
make the Order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the
Order; or that a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Act was not complied with
11. An application to the High Court must be made within the period of 6 weeks beginning
with the date on which the Order is made

Page

2 of 4

Page 86

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
St John's Park Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix C
Definitions
“authorised officer” means a Police Constable, a designated Police Community
Support Officer or an officer with delegated authority from the Council to enforce the
Order
“interested person” means an individual who lives in the restricted area or who regularly
works in or visits that area
“public place” means any place to which the public or any section of the public has
access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission
“restricted area” means any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order
GIVEN under the Common Seal of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council on the XX day
of April 2022

Page

3 of 4

Page 87

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
St John's Park Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix C
Public Spaces Protection Order – St John’s Park (no. 3 of 2022)

Schedule 1 – The Restricted Area

Page

4 of 4

Page 88

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
St John's Park Public Spaces Protection Order 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 - Public Spaces
Protection Order (no. 4 of 2022)
Loitering and engaging in non-parking related
activities in multi-storey car parks
This Order is made by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (“the Council”) and may be
cited as the Public Spaces Protection Order – Multi-storey car parks (No. 4 of
2022) (“the Order”)
1. This Order relates to any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order (“the restricted area”)
2. This Order shall come into force on XX April 2022 and shall have effect for a period
of 3 years thereafter, unless extended by further order under the Council’s statutory
powers
3. This Order is made by the Council in exercise of its powers under section 59 of the
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act”) having carried out the
necessary consultation and being satisfied on reasonable grounds that:
a. The activities identified below have been carried on in a public place within
the restricted area and have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of
those in the locality, or it is likely that the activities will take place and that
they will have a detrimental effect; and
b. The effect, or likely effect of the activities is, or is likely to be, of a persistent
or continuing nature, such as to make the activities unreasonable and justifies
the restrictions imposed by the Order
4. The Council has had regard to the rights and freedoms under Article 10 (freedom of
expression) and Article 11 (freedom of assembly and association) as set out in the
European Convention on Human Rights and is satisfied that the restrictions imposed
by this Order are lawful, necessary and proportionate

Page

1 of 8

Page 89

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix D

The activities described below are hereby
prohibited:
Loitering and activities in multi-storey car parks
5. At any time of year and any time of the day no persons shall congregate, loiter or
engage in activities unrelated to parking within the areas outlined in maps as shown
in schedule 1

Offence of failing to comply with the Order
6. It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to:
a. Do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by the Order; or
b. Fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under the
Order
7. Any person who commits an offence is liable on conviction in the Magistrates’ Court
to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale

Fixed penalty notices
8. An authorised officer may issue a fixed penalty notice of up to £100 to anyone who
he or she has reason to believe has committed an offence under the Act
9. If the fixed penalty notice is not paid the person to whom it is issued remains liable
upon conviction to a fine

Right of appeal
10. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order they may do so
by applying to the High Court on the grounds that the Council did not have power to
make the Order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the
Order; or that a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Act was not complied with
11. An application to the High Court must be made within the period of 6 weeks beginning
with the date on which the Order is made

Page

2 of 8

Page 90

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Definitions
“authorised officer” means a Police Constable, a designated Police Community
Support Officer or an officer with delegated authority from the Council to enforce the
Order
“interested person” means an individual who lives in the restricted area or who regularly
works in or visits that area
“public place” means any place to which the public or any section of the public has
access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission
“restricted area” means any public place in the part of Tunbridge Wells shown edged
red on the plan attached at Schedule 1 of this Order
GIVEN under the Common Seal of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council on the XX day
of April 2022

Page

3 of 8

Page 91

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Public Spaces Protection Order – Multi-storey car parks (no. 4 of 2022)

Schedule 1 – The Restricted Area
Crescent Road multi-storey car park

Page

4 of 8

Page 92

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Meadow Road multi-storey car park

Page

5 of 8

Page 93

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Great Hall multi-storey car park

Page

6 of 8

Page 94

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Torrington multi-storey car park

Page

7 of 8

Page 95

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Appendix D
Royal Victoria Place multi-storey car park

Page

8 of 8

Page 96

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
RTW multi-storey car park PSPO 2022
Date of publication – 22 March 202222
Revision: 2

Equality Impact Assessment Template
Summary of decision to be made:

Page 97

Review of introduction of Public Spaces Protection Orders in 2018 to address quality of life issues and
tackle anti-social behaviour.
Proposals for implementation of additional PSPO in 2022
Lead Officer (job title):
Corporate Governance Officer, Community Safety Officer
Date the final decision is due to be made:
14/04/2022
Date this assessment commenced: 28/01/2022
Is the decision relevant to the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty to:
Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation
Yes
Advance equality of opportunity
Yes
Foster good relations
Yes
Background:
Continuation of a Public Space Protection Order to address:
Dog fouling
Dog exclusion
Dog control
Alcohol control
New psychoactive substances
Begging
Rough sleeping
Amplified music

This equality impact assessment will consider the above issues and whether there are any particular issues with regards to the protected characteristics.
Overall findings from the Residents’ Survey (2015) are summarised in paragraph 5.1 of the committee report. Findings from the consultation are
summarised in paragraph 5.5 of the committee report.
Relevance to the three aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty
1. The need to ensure that implementation of a PSPO is not unlawfully discriminatory is relevant to the first aim of the duty to eliminate discrimination,
harassment and victimisation.

Appendix E

Implementation of a PSPO in 2022 to address:
Dog control (new location – Dunorlan Park, dogs on leads in the formal area of the park with an area set aside for unrestricted exercise)
Anti-social behaviour (new location, Sherwood Lake) associated with people congregating with people fishing. The proposal would ban overnight
camping, alcohol use and prohibit fishing from the most accessible ‘swim’ at the lakeside.
Anti-social behaviour (new location, St John’s Park) associated with young adults congregating in the park, near residential properties throughout the
summer and often throughout the night. The proposal would see a prohibition on being in the park between 11pm and 5am.
Anti-social behaviour (new location, RTW multi-storey car parks) associated with people loitering in the car parks to drink, smoke and participate in
activities such as skateboarding, cycling and free running. The proposal is for a no loitering order for all multi-storey car parks.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
2. The need to consider how we can take steps to meet the needs of people with protected characteristics, who may be affected by the implementation
of the PSPO is relevant to the second aim of the duty to advance equality of opportunity.
3. The way the Council operates the PSPO could also be relevant to fostering good relations with regard to maintaining the confidence and trust in the
local authority by people with protected characteristics.

Page 98

For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

Disability

Residents’ Survey (2015)
There were no differences between
respondents with disabilities and
respondents without disabilities with
regards to anti-social behaviour
issues.

Dog fouling:
The proposals seek to increase
the fines, which are already in
place for dog fouling. We do not
consider that the proposals will
unlawfully discriminate or put
people with disabilities at a
disadvantage.

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
5% of respondents had a long-term
health problem or disability. 8%
‘preferred not to say’ whether they
had a long-term health problem or
disability. Individual comments
relating to the proposals are
described below.

Dog exclusion:

Dog exclusion:
The proposals restrict the
exclusion zones to Councilowned fenced children’s
playgrounds only, with
exceptions to be made for
assistance dogs, where
appropriate.

Appendix E

Dog fouling:
- A scooter user is able to use a
grabber to clear up after a dog and
dispose in the bin or at home.
However, they sometimes have
difficulties in cleaning up after their
dog and a fine would not change
this. They also made a comment
about the availability of dog bags
at machines.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

Psychoactive substances:
The comments received in the
consultation do not suggest that
the proposals will unlawfully
discriminate or put people with
disabilities at a disadvantage.
Begging and rough sleeping:
There is potential that people
with mental health disabilities
could be affected. It is not the

Begging and rough sleeping:
Authorised officers will
complete a rough sleeping and
begging assistance form. This

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

- Consider the accessibility of
restriction free alternatives for
those with reduced mobility.
- The Council to allow some
flexibility when considering
whether a disabled person's dog is
acting as an assistance dog

Council’s intention to penalise
people who are begging or
sleeping rough but to take a
reasonable and proportionate
response based on whether an
individual is causing issues for
other users of the public space
and whether they are already
engaging with support services.
Cases of begging or rough
sleeping will be considered on
an individual basis and
discretion will be applied. We
have produced guidance which
sets out reasonable behaviour
and behaviour which will not be
tolerated. Authorised officers
will not issue a fixed penalty
notice unless Council staff have
established persistent anti-social
behaviour.

Psychoactive substances:
- The current measures will not
address the issue of drug use by
people with mental health
disabilities who self-medicate.

Page 99

Begging and rough sleeping:
- Health and safety issues for elderly
and disabled people where people
begging cause obstructions in
particular locations.
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Dog control
- Consideration for those who may
not be able to keep their dog on a
lead due to a disability such as
arthritis or use of a walking stick.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required. We have
managed complaints of rough
sleeping and begging without
the need to issue notices. This
is due to rough sleeper
initiatives being put in place,
including those as a result of
the Covid-19 pandemic.

Additional PSPO (2022)

Additional PSPO (2022) - no
additional mitigations required

Appendix E

Consultation on additional PSPOs
in 2022
8.3% of respondents had a longterm health problem of disability.
Individual comments relating to the
proposals are described below.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
will capture where an individual
is engaging with support
services (housing, mental
health, alcohol or drug
treatment) or whether they are
willing to accept support. We
will use this form to monitor
those affected who are
engaging with mental health
services. We will review this
information alongside a review
of the PSPO after one-year.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Race

Page 100

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

- Concerns that those who may not
be able to access all spaces of the
park, due to a disability, will not be
able to continue to use the park to
exercise their dogs.

- Exemptions for people with
disabilities have been
included in the order.

Residents’ Survey (2015)
There were no differences by
ethnicity with regards to anti-social
behaviour issues.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Additional PSPOs (2022)
We do not consider that the
proposals will unlawfully
discriminate or put people from
different ethnic groups at a
disadvantage.

Additional PSPOs (2022)
None identified.

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
1% of respondents gave their ethnic
group as ‘other’ and 1% as
‘mixed/multiple ethnic group’. 10%
preferred not to give their ethnic
group. No issues were raised in
relation to ethnicity.
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Dog control

Appendix E

Consultation on additional PSPOs
in 2022
Respondents gave their ethnic
groups as 88.6% ‘White’, 1.4% as
‘Mixed/Multiple ethnic group’, 1% as
‘Asian or Asian British’, 0.3% as
‘Black or Black British’ and 0.4% as
‘other Ethnic Group’.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
– exemptions will be in place
where appropriate.
.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

- Comments that the approach
would affect young, bame, working
class dog owners.
Sex

Residents’ Survey (2015)
There were no differences between
males and females with regards to
anti-social behaviour issues.

Page 101

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
40% were females and 55% were
male. 5% preferred not to say. No
issues were raised in relation to
males and females.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Dog control
- Concerns about the park feeling
unwelcome and for women being
able to find a safe space to walk
their dogs.
Age

Residents’ Survey (2015)
A significantly higher proportion of
residents aged 55 were in favour of
the Council influencing all suggested

Additional PSPO (2022)
We acknowledge that there may
be concerns about safety within
the park as the area may feel
dark and remote in the winter.

Additional PSPO (2022)
The Community Safety Team
will commit to undertaking an
environmental visual audit
(EVA) with an experienced
Kent Police crime reduction
officer to assess what
improvements can be made to
the designated area.

Appendix E

Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
60.3% were females and 36.5%
were males. 3.1% preferred not to
say.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

behaviours (which included street
drinking, psychoactive substances,
begging, dogs being kept on leads in
parks, and amplified music)

Page 102

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
The proportion of respondents in
each age group were:
18-24: 2%
25-34: 4%
35-44: 13%
45-54: 27%
55-64: 17%
65+: 30%
Prefer not to say: 7%.
Individual comments relating to the
proposals are described below.
Dog fouling:
Whilst the comments raise
conflicting issues, the proposals
were supported by 84% of
respondents overall. The
proposals seek to increase the
fines, which are already in place
for dog fouling. Whether this will
encourage more people to clean
up after their dog, including on
sports/play areas, is unknown.
There is no evidence to suggest
that the proposals will unlawfully
discriminate or put particular
age groups at a disadvantage.

Dog exclusion:
- Concerns about the impact
on the elderly and where they
will be able to walk their dogs Dog exclusion:

Appendix E

Dog fouling:
- There are existing problems
with dog fouling on
sports/play areas used by
young people.
- Concerns about dog walking
being portrayed as ‘antisocial’ when it has health and
social benefits, particularly
for the elderly who use the
areas in question to walk
their dogs.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

-

-

if they are banned from
parks.
Concerns about the impact
on young families with dogs
who will not be able to bring
their dogs to the areas in
question.
Concerns that there have
been instances of young
children being frightened by
dogs that are currently
walked in the areas
concerned.

Page 103

Alcohol Control:
- Query about why is there no
Alcohol Control Area on the
Hawkenbury Recreation
Ground (as a magnet for
young drinkers).
- The issue of young people
drinking should be
addressed.

Begging and rough sleeping:
- Health and safety issues for
elderly and disabled people

Following consultation on the
proposals, we have revised the
exclusions zones so that dogs
on leads will be permitted St
Marks Recreation Ground and
The Nevill Ground. There are
also areas near to these
locations where dogs can be let
off their leads.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
Dog exclusion:
We will monitor any complaints
received for age-related
issues.

Alcohol Control:
Alcohol control zones are
already operating in parts of the
borough. The comments
received in the consultation do
not suggest that the proposals
will unlawfully discriminate or
put particular age groups at a
disadvantage.
Psychoactive substances:
The comments received in the
consultation do not suggest that
the proposals will unlawfully
discriminate or put particular
age groups at a disadvantage.
Begging and rough sleeping:
The comments received in the
consultation do not suggest that
the proposals will unlawfully
discriminate or put particular
age groups at a disadvantage.

Appendix E

Psychoactive substances:
- Drug consumption by young
people reported by residents
in their areas.
- Concerns over rough
sleepers and people begging
scaring young children by
openly injecting drugs.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.
where people begging cause
obstructions in particular
locations.
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Page 104

Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
The proportion of respondents in
each age group were:
18-24: 2.9%
25-34: 11.5%
35-44: 20.9%
45-64: 40.6%
65-74: 15%
75+: 4.7%
Prefer not to say: 4.3%.

Anti-social behaviour
- Concerns about the impact of the
car park proposals on young
people and those who are
homeless.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Additional PSPO (2022)

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.
Additional PSPO (2022) –
none identified.

Dog Control:
- Exemptions for people with
disabilities will be included
which will address concerns
relating to elderly dog walkers.
Anti-social behaviour
- The Order will not affect
people who are rough
sleeping. PSPOs cannot be
used to ‘ban’ rough sleeping.
- Young people have a range of
open spaces in the town
centre where they can gather
and enjoy each other’s
company, including The
Commons, Calverley Grounds
and The Grove. For times
when the weather is inclement
there are provisions at the
KCC Youth Hub on Grove
Road and the Y4C Centre on
Grosvenor Road.

Appendix E

Dog control
- Comments that the approach
would affect young, bame, working
class dog owners.
- Consideration for those who re
elderly and may not be able to
keep their dog on a lead.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
None

Religion / Belief

Residents’ Survey (2015)
Information about religion/belief was
not captured in the survey.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
Religion/belief questions were not
asked of people responding to the
consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
religion/belief.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Additional PSPO (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Page 105

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Sexual Orientation

Residents’ Survey (2015)
Information about sexual orientation
was not captured in the survey.
Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)

Appendix E

Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
Religion/belief questions were not
asked of people responding to the
consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
religion/belief.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

Sexual orientation questions were
not asked of people responding to
the consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
sexual orientation.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Page 106

Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
Sexual orientation questions were
not asked of people responding to
the consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
sexual orientation.
Residents’ Survey (2015)
Information about pregnancy/
maternity was not captured in the
survey.
Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
Pregnancy/maternity questions were
not asked of people responding to
the consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Appendix E

Pregnancy / Maternity

Additional PSPO (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

Additional PSPO’s (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
pregnancy/maternity.
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Page 107

Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
Pregnancy/maternity questions were
not asked of people responding to
the consultation, so we are unable to
determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
pregnancy/maternity.
Marital or Civil Partnership Status

Residents’ Survey (2015)
Information about marital or civil
partnership status was not captured
in the survey.

Appendix E

Consultation on the PSPO
(2017/18)
Marital or civil partnership status
questions were not asked of people
responding to the consultation, so
we are unable to determine whether
there were any differences in
responses based on this protected
characteristic. No issues were
raised in relation to marital or civil
partnership status.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

Additional PSPO (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Page 108

Consultation on additional
PSPO’s in 2022
Marital or civil partnership status
questions were not asked of people
responding to the consultation, so
we are unable to determine whether
there were any differences in
responses based on this protected
characteristic. No issues were
raised in relation to marital or civil
partnership status.
Gender reassignment

Residents’ Survey (2015)
Information about gender
reassignment was not captured in
the survey.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Appendix E

Review of existing measures
Consultation on the PSPO
(2022) – no additional impacts
(2017/18)
identified.
Gender reassignment questions
were not asked of people responding
to the consultation, so we are unable
to determine whether there were any
differences in responses based on
this protected characteristic. No
issues were raised in relation to
gender reassignment status.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.
Consultation on additional PSPO
in 2022
Marital or civil partnership status
questions were not asked of people
responding to the consultation, so
we are unable to determine whether
there were any differences in
responses based on this protected
characteristic. No issues were
raised in relation to marital or civil
partnership status.

Armed Forces Community

Page 109

To be considered as part of the
commitments within the Community
Covenant to encourage support for
the Armed Forces community
working and residing in the borough.
Review of existing measures
(2022) – no further feedback
received.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts

Additional PSPO (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

None

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional impacts
identified.

Review of existing measures
(2022) – no additional
mitigations required.

Additional PSPO (2022)
We have not identified any
issues in relation to the Public
Space Protection Order.

Additional PSPO (2022)
None identified.

No impact
Adjust the policy
Continue the policy ✓
Stop and remove the policy
With regard to the first aim of the general equality duty, we do not consider that the proposed policy is
unlawfully discriminatory. Although there is potential for young people to be affected by the proposals
by the new locations for Public Space Protection Orders, there are a range of alternatives within the town
centre where they can gather.
With regard to the second aim of the general equality duty, the proposals take account of the needs of
people with disabilities with regards to making exceptions for assistance dogs in dog exclusion zones or
where owners may have difficulties using a lead because of a disability. Concerns about women feeling
safe when exercising their dogs in the proposed unrestricted area of Dunorlan Park have been noted.
The Community Safety Team will commit to undertaking an environmental visual audit (EVA) with an

Appendix E

Please tick the outcome of this assessment:
How will you summarise the impacts in the
committee report:

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

Equality Impact Assessment Template
For each of the following characteristics:

When will you review this assessment:

Summarise available data, statistics
or consultation findings.

State how the proposal will
impact on people.

What action will be taken to
reduce or mitigate any
potential negative impacts
experienced Kent Police crime reduction officer to assess what improvements can be made to the
designated area.
With regards to fostering good relations the proposals seek to introduce a reasonable and proportionate
response to issues of anti-social behaviour that balances the needs of all those who use the areas where
such behaviour may occur.
30/06/2023 or one year after implementation.

Page 110

Appendix E

Appendix F

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Public Spaces Protection Orders 2022
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
Relevant sections of the legislation
Section 59 (2) The first condition is that—
(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's area have had a
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or
(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area
and that they will have such an effect.
Section 72 (3) A local authority must carry out the necessary consultation and the
necessary publicity, and the necessary notification (if any), before—
(a) making a public spaces protection order,
(b) extending the period for which a public spaces protection order has effect, or
(c) varying or discharging a public spaces protection order.
(4) In subsection (3)—
“the necessary consultation” means consulting with—
(a) the chief officer of police, and the local policing body, for the police area that
includes the restricted area;
(b) whatever community representatives the local authority thinks it appropriate
to consult;
(c) the owner or occupier of land within the restricted area;
“the necessary publicity” means—
(a) in the case of a proposed order or variation, publishing the text of it;
(b) in the case of a proposed extension or discharge, publicising the proposal;
“the necessary notification” means notifying the following authorities of the
proposed order, extension, variation or discharge—
(a) the parish council or community council (if any) for the area that includes the
restricted area;
(b) in the case of a public spaces protection order made or to be made by a
district council in England, the county council (if any) for the area that includes
the restricted area.

1

Page 111

Appendix F
All relevant stakeholders were engaged for the purposes of notification or
consultation on 14 July 2021.
Necessary consultation and notification
included: The Chief Constable, Chief Inspector, CSU Inspector, Police and Crime
Commissioner, Greg Clark MP, KCC Community Safety, relevant ‘Friends’ (parks)
groups and land managers.
A Members Briefing was held on 16 July 2021 and further confirmation was
provided to all parishes on 27 August 2021. A further Members Briefing related to
the three locations that are the subject of this report was held on 4 February 2022.
Necessary publicity
Proposals were published as part of the report that went to Cabinet on 2 December
2021 and draft orders will be uploaded to the Council’s website (along with some
explanatory plain-English text) prior to the March 2022 Communities CAB meeting.

2

Page 112

Agenda Item 10

Tunbridge Wells Community Safety
Partnership Plan 2022-23
For Full Council on 27 April 2022

Summary
Lead Member: David Scott
Lead Director: Paul Taylor
Head of Service: Denise Haylett
Report Author: Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Community Safety Partnership
Portfolio Holder
Management Board
Communities CAB
Cabinet
Full Council

Date
17 February 2022
17 February 2022
16 March 2022
30 March 2022
14 April 2022
27 April 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That the Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 be approved.

Page

1 of 8

Page 113

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

Tunbridge Wells is amongst the safest places to live in the county. In calendar year
2021 Tunbridge Wells was well positioned within Kent, coming first or second in 10 of
our 14 regularly measured crime-types, and third place in all but Hate crime where we
sit fourth (sixth in 2020)

1.2

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposed a statutory duty on partners, referred to as
‘responsible authorities’, to work closely together to reduce crime and anti-social
behaviour, and the fear of crime. Partnerships were formalised as a Crime and
Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP), now referred to as a Community Safety
Partnership (CSP).

1.3

The partners referred to in the Act as ‘responsible authorities’ are Tunbridge Wells
Borough Council, Kent County Council, Kent Police, Kent Fire and Rescue Service,
National Probation Service, Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation
Company, and the Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group (from 2021, the
West Kent Integrated Care Partnership).

1.4

The CSP also has many non-statutory partners including housing associations, other
housing providers, and voluntary and community organisations.

1.5

The CSP meets quarterly to discuss strategic aims and is chaired by the District
Commander and Borough Council's relevant Head of Service.

1.6

The Community Safety Unit (CSU) was set up in 2010 as the operational delivery unit
of the CSP. It is a multi-agency partnership and includes officers from TWBC, KCC
(Community Wardens), Kent Police, Safe Town Partnership, Protection Against
Stalking and other agencies working together to reduce crime and disorder.

1.7

Most partners meet two mornings every week to discuss matters of crime and antisocial behaviour and to put in place plans to address ongoing issues. In addition to
morning briefings, partners come together at various monthly meetings to discuss
vulnerable adults, young people, open spaces, organised crime and domestic abuse.

1.8

In addition to the day-to-day work to address crime and anti-social behaviour the
Community Safety Partnership sets local priorities for themes that are important to
residents and require a high level of partnership working.

1.9

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Constitution and the Local Government (Functions
and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 states that the Partnership Plan
must be adopted by Full Council. The plan is presented to Cabinet for
recommendation and to Full Council for adoption.

1.10 Based on intelligence from an annual assessment of crime and anti-social behaviour
data, a Partnership Plan is developed in consultation with a range of community safety

Page

2 of 8

Page 114

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
partners. The Strategic Assessment, and the identified priorities and activities for
2022/23, were discussed at a meeting of the Community Safety Partnership on 17
February 2022.
1.11 The plan also complements and supports the delivery of the “Safer in Kent: The
Community Safety and Criminal Justice Plan 2017-2021”, published by the Kent
Police and Crime Commissioner – and extended to March 2022 following
postponement of the PCC elections in 2021); and the Kent Community Safety
Agreement published by the KCC Community Safety Unit.
1.12 Priorities identified by the Strategic Assessment process were discussed at a CSP
meeting on 17 February 2022, and the following were agreed upon:
• Domestic Abuse
• Substance Misuse and Supply, and Alcohol Abuse (inc. violence-related issues and
knife crime)
• Anti-social and High-risk Behaviour (including violence-related issues)
• Road Safety
• Violence Against Women and Girls
1.13 Following several high-profile violent, and fatal, attacks on women (in other parts of
the country) the government launched a tackling violence against women and girls
(VAWG) strategy to “ensure women and girls are safe everywhere - at home, online
and on the streets.”
1.14 While issues of violence were already integrated into two local CSP priorities (Antisocial behaviour and Substance Misuse & Supply) a stronger focus on violence
against women led to a fifth priority being added for Q4. This was agreed with the
relevant portfolio holder and members of the Community Safety Partnership at the
quarterly meeting in February 2022. The priority has been retained for 2022/23.
1.15 Full details of the plan and the data used in the assessment are attached as
appendices. The plan will be monitored quarterly at strategic CSP meetings.

2. Options Considered
2.1

Under the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Constitution and the Local Government
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, this plan must be
brought in front of Full Council for formal adoption.

2.2

The Partnership Plan outlines how the agencies within the CSP will work together to
keep residents of the borough safe from crime and anti-social behaviour.

2.3

Full Council has the option of approving the plan, amending the plan or requesting that
a new plan be produced.

Page

3 of 8

Page 115

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
3. Preferred Option and Reason
3.1

This report is designed to inform members of the multi-agency activity which TWBC
and partners have committed to undertake to reduce crime and disorder. The
preferred option is for the plan to be considered and approved.

4. Consultation on Options
4.1

The CSP ratified the identified priorities at the meeting on 17 February 2022, with the
Portfolio Holder in attendance.

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
4.2

Communities CAB will be consulted on 30 March 2022.

5. Implementation
5.1

The plan will be made available on the Council’s website.

5.2

Partner commitments to the plan will be monitored quarterly at CSP meetings.

5.3

Monitoring information is sent to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for
those priorities or actions funded by his annual Crime Reduction Grant.

6. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2021-22

•

Appendix B: Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22

Page

4 of 8

Page 116

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
7. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
As detailed in the body of the report the Partnership Plan is formulated as required by the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998.
Regulation 4 and Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Functions and Responsibilities)
(England) Regulations 2000 require Full Council to adopt the Partnership Plan.
At this stage there are no direct consequences arising from the recommendation that
adversely affect an individual’s rights and freedoms as set out in the Human Rights Act 1998.
Potentially, consequences could arise in the future implementation of the plan that would
need to be evaluated at the time.
Helen Ward, Lawyer (Contentious), Mid Kent Legal Services, 09/03/2022

B. Finance and Other Resources
All actions within the plan will be undertaken from existing resources or funded by the CSP.
[Name, title and date of finance officer who signed off the report]

C. Staffing
No direct implications
[Name, title and date of HR officer who signed off the report]

D. Risk Management
No direct risks arise from this report.
[Name, title and date of report author]

E. Environment and Sustainability
No direct implications.
Section 40, National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
40(1) Every public authority must, in exercising its functions have regard so
far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the
purpose of conserving biodiversity.
Section 85, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000

Page

5 of 8

Page 117

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
85(1) In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to
affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant authority
shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural
beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty.
TBC Karin Grey, Sustainability Manager, XX/03/2022.

F. Community Safety
The activities contained within this plan are designed to build safer communities by tackling
the CSP’s priorities of:
Reducing alcohol and substance misuse, addressing domestic abuse, tackling anti-social
behaviour, contributing to road safety and addressing Violence Against Women and Girls.
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998
17(1) Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the
duty of each authority to which this section applies to exercise its various
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those
functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime
and disorder in its area.
Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, 22/2/22.

G. Equalities
Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement under the Public Sector Equality Duty
(s149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people from different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between
people from different groups. The decisions recommended through this paper could directly
impact on end users.
The priorities identified support the aim of the public sector equality duty to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment or victimisation by:
-

Providing support services for women and men who experience domestic abuse.
Delivering an action plan to address violence against women and girls.

Section 149, Equality Act 2010
149(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to –
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

Page

6 of 8

Page 118

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
Sarah Lavallie, Corporate Governance Officer, 3/3/22

H. Data Protection
The Community Safety Partnership Plan does not present any changes to how personal data
is processed in relation to the proposed priorities for 2022-23. The Council has appropriate
safeguards in place to keep data secure, including when working with our partners.
Article 5, General Data Protection Regulation 2016
1. Personal data shall be:
(a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the
data subject;
(b) collected for specific, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further
processed in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes;
(c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the
purposes for which they are processed;
(d) accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date;
(e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no longer
than is necessary for the purposes for which the personal data are
processed;
(f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the personal
data, including protection against unauthorised or unlawful processing and
against accidental loss, destruction or damage, using appropriate technical
or organisational measures.
TBC Sarah Lavallie, Corporate Governance Officer, XX March 2022

I. Health and Safety
The plan should help to have an overall increase in safety within the Borough. This would
have a positive impact on the safety of staff of TWBC as well as showing that the council are
taking their responsibilities seriously with regards to reducing anti-social behaviour. Making
the communities safer and more secure to work and live for all.
TBC [Name, title and date of Health and Safety Officer who signed off the report.]

J. Health and Wellbeing
The actions contained within the plan should contribute to increased wellbeing, and the work
to reduce the harm caused by alcohol and substance misuse should have a positive impact
on the health of those affected.

Page

7 of 8

Page 119

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Agenda Item 10
1. Areas of deprivation: Will the proposal have an impact (positive of
negative) on those living in areas of deprivation within the borough (40%
most deprived in the country). These are Sherwood, Southborough and High
Brooms, Broadwater and Rusthall.
2. Healthier lifestyle opportunities: Will residents be more or less able to
make healthier lifestyle choices such as physical activity (e.g. active travel,
access to green spaces or access to leisure facilities), healthy eating (e.g.
proximity or access to take away shops, allotments, food stores) and being
smokefree
3. Social and Community networks: Will the proposal make it easier for
people to interact with one another e.g. encouraging community engagement
4. Living and Working Conditions: does to proposal improve work or home
environments, increase job, education or training opportunities, improve
access to health services or housing
5. General Socioeconomic, cultural and environmental conditions: Are there
any other factors that may impact the above
TBC Rebecca Bowers, Health Improvement Team Leader, XX/03/2022.

Page

8 of 8

Page 120

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Tunbridge Wells Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23

Appendix A

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Community Safety
Partnership Strategic
Assessment 2022-23
Produced by Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager
Please contact terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk
Community Safety Partnership sign-off: 17 February 2022

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

1 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
121
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Introduction
The Strategic Assessment produced for the Tunbridge Wells Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) helps establish priority themes for the 2022/23 Partnership Plan.

Legislation
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 gave statutory responsibility to local authorities, the police,
and key partners to reduce crime and disorder in their communities. Under this, and
subsequent legislation, Community Safety Partnerships are required to carry out annual
audits and to implement crime reduction strategies.
The Police and Justice Act 2006 introduced scrutiny arrangements in the form of the Crime
and Disorder Scrutiny Committee, as well as introducing several amendments to the 1998
Act including the addition of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and substance misuse within the
remit of the CSP strategies. Reducing reoffending was subsequently added by the Policing
and Crime Act 2009. The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy)
Regulations 2007 set out further revisions to the 1998 Act.

The aim of the Strategic Assessment
The analysis of data provided by partners enables the partnership to set clear priorities for
the coming year.
Part 1 analyses police and partner data for last year’s priorities covering the period January
to December 2021, unless otherwise specified.
Funding for these priorities is provided, in large part, by the Kent Police and Crime
Commissioner in accordance with the priorities set out in his Safer in Kent: The Community
Safety and Criminal Justice Plan.
Part 2 draws some conclusions from the data and recommends the priorities for the
partnership for the forthcoming financial year.
It should be noted that some of the data provided in this document is
provisional and may undergo further revision.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

2 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
122
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Part 1 – Analysis
All recorded crime
Current figures for the 12-month period January 2021 – December 2021, unless stated.
Level of Crime:

7,679 (previous period 7,830)

Peer Comparison: Best out of 12 Kent areas by population and volume
Annual Change:

A reduction of 151 crimes (-2%)

Kent comparison
Tunbridge Wells had the lowest overall crime rate in Kent for the given period, marginally
ahead of our West Kent neighbours Sevenoaks and Tonbridge and Malling.
A reduction of 778 crimes builds on the reduction of 345 crimes during the previous calendar
year (2019).
From the metric of ‘all crime’ Tunbridge Wells is the safest local authority area in Kent.

Three-year trend - black line Tunbridge Wells, red line county average

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

3 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
123
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
The table below shows a breakdown of reported incidents, the increase or decrease since
the last reporting period, and our county position for years 2020 and 2021. Subsequent
pages provide further details on key crime types and a ward breakdown.
Crime Type
All crime
Victim-based crime
Violence (VAP)
Sexual offences
Hate Crime
ASB Incidents
Burglary Residential
Criminal damage
Domestic abuse incidents
Drug offences
(Drug Trafficking)
(Drug Possession)
Robbery
Shoplifting
Theft from a motor vehicle
Theft of motor vehicle

This
Year
7,679
6,558
3,498
326
226
1,554
293
919
2,504
211
52
159
26
414
179
134

Last
Year
7,830
6,652
3,351
272
191
2,354
281
948
2,391
219
66
153
39
564
229
123

%
Change
-1.9%
-1.4%
4.4%
19.9%
18.3%
-34.0%
4.3%
-3.1%
4.7%
-3.7%
-21.2%
3.9%
-33.3%
-26.6%
-21.8%
8.9%

Number
change
-151
-94
147
54
35
-800
12
-29
113
-8
-14
6
-13
-150
-50
11

2020

2021

1
1
2
2
6
1
3
1
2
2
--=1
4
3
3

1
1
2
3
4
1
3
1
2
2
=3
2
=1
1
3
=2

*VAP = Violence against the Person

Noticeable in this data:
•
•
•

A near five percent rise in domestic abuse and VAP offences
An improvement in our county position for Hate Crime despite an overall increase
A sizeable reduction in reports of anti-social behaviour

Data for this period (less so than last year), is clearly influenced by the consequences of
lockdowns and other restrictions associated with the pandemic. To this end, where possible
throughout this report I have included data from 2019 as a further comparison.
Reports of anti-social behaviour, in particular, saw steep monthly climbs and falls over the
past two years with much of the change associated with real or perceived breaches of
COVID-19 regulations. Violent crime increased by ~7% over the past two years following a
reduction of 7.5% in 2019. Domestic abuse reports increased by 4.7% in 2021 and 4.1% in
2020. By comparison incidents increased by around nine percent in 2019.
Given the unusual conditions we experienced in 2020 and to a lesser degree, 2021, I thought
it might be helpful to present monthly data from 2019 alongside district and ward data for key
crime types in 2020 and 2021.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

4 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
124
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Small changes in Violence Against the Person offences in most wards, with some areas
seeing a reduction over 2019 levels. A noticeable increase in Southborough & High Brooms
persisted through 2020 and into 2021. It’s worth noting that VAP includes common assault
with no injury.

There were 37 more Sexual Offences in the borough in 2021 over 2019 with Culverden,
Sherwood and Southborough and High Brooms experiencing increases of 22, 14 and 12
respectively.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

5 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
125
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Most wards experienced reductions in Residential Burglaries in 2020 over 2019 and this
remained steady in 2021 (over 2019).

Small movements in Theft of a Motor Vehicle, offences when compared to the previous two
years, with Sherwood and Culverden seeing the biggest increases.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

6 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
126
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Drug Offences, which includes possession and possession with intent to supply again fell
away during the early months of the year (as in 2020) when some level of lockdown was
imposed across the country. While most wards have seen either reductions or small
increases, both Pantiles & St Marks and Rusthall saw double-figure increases.

Criminal Damage offences fell by half in 2020 (over 2019) as the first lockdowns came into
play. The trend continued into 2021, to some degree, with reductions seen in many wards.
That’s not the case across the board with increases seen in Sherwood and Cranbrook.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

7 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
127
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Hate Crime
The chart below shows the level of hate crime countywide across three calendar years. The
black horizontal line is the county average (313) for 2021.

The table below shows race to be the most consistent predominant factor in hate crime
reports. Disability and sexual orientation are also significant factors, followed by religion/faith.
In addition to the characteristics shown below a smaller number of reports involve multiple
motivations.
Calendar
Year

Race

Disability

Religion/
faith/belief

Transgender

Gender

Sexual
orientation

Age

2021
2020
2019
2018

170
140
128
132

39
35
32
24

14
12
10
12

2
1
1
0

5
0
0
9

38
35
29
26

0
0
1
6

Hate crimes are reviewed by Kent Police's Community Liaison Officer (CLO), who is part of
the CSU team. The CLO makes contacts with victims in pursuit of suitable interventions,
signposting and safeguarding to prevent further occurrence.

Hate crimes are always unacceptable and efforts are always made to support victims.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

8 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
128
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Much of this support has been provided by telephone and video conferencing over the past
two years.
Amongst issues local to Tunbridge Wells, the CLO has engaged with resettled Afghan
families following reports of abuse. Community Impact Assessments have also been drawn
up following protests for causes such as Black Lives Matters and Violence Against Women
and Girls.
Other local incidents of note for 2021 included the death of PCSO Julia James by a suspect
unknown to her, David Fuller incidents, anti-vax protests and verbal abuse towards people of
Indian/Asian descent; and anyone else they think caused the Covid pandemic.
International and nationally significant incidents were tracked locally to ensure we were
prepared for any knock-on effects. Some examples below:
January
First Astra Zeneca Covid vaccine jab.
Announces of further national lockdowns as Covid variant spreads rapidly.
Joe Biden wins US General Election.
February
Kent Covid strain – Alpha sweeps through 50 Countries.
People from Covid hotspots require travellers to isolate in quarantine hotels.
March
Sarah Everard tragedy grips the country.
Oprah Winfrey interviews Harry and Meghan (suicidal risks and allegations of racist
behaviour).
PC Couzens charged with death of Sarah Everard whose death sparked debates/protests
about Violence Against Women and Girls.
Vatican says Priests cannot bless same-sex unions.
US House Committee hearing begins on rise of violence and discrimination against AsianAmericans citing 3,800 hate incidents recorded during a 12-month period.
Trial of former PC Derek Chauvin for murder of George Floyd begins.
Joe Biden overturns Trumps restrictions on transgender people serving in armed forces.
April
20-year-old Daunte Wright shot and killed at a traffic stop by a police officer in Minnesota,
mistaking her gun for a taser. Officer subsequently charged and convicted.
UK loosens covid restrictions opening pubs and shops after 175 days.
President Biden decision to withdraw all US troops from Afghanistan by September.
Police officer convicted of the murder of George Floyd.
May
Violence between Palestine and Israel escalates.
Delta variant sweeps the country and causing global concern.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

9 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
129
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
June
Supreme court declines to hear schools appeal in transgender bathroom case.
UK PM announces end of all covid restrictions from 19/07/2021.
Bomb attack on market in Baghdad ahead of Eid festival kills 25.
August
Taliban forces capture three regional Afghan cities.
A bomb at Kabul airport kills hundreds amid international efforts to evacuate citizens out of
the country.
Last military evacuation plane leaves Kabul.
September
Taliban says women must study in gender-segregated classrooms in Afghanistan.
Panic buying at the petrol pumps.
PC Couzens given rare life sentence for rape and murder of Sarah Everard.
October
Bow and arrow terrorist attack kills five and injures two in Norway.
MP Sir David Amess stabbed to death in probable terrorist attack.
November
27 migrants drown after boat capsizes in English Channel trying to reach the UK.
Covid variant Omicron a “variant of concern”.
December
Chile becomes 31st nation to legalise same sex marriage.
UK PM announces emergency covid booster program to protect NHS and stem wave of
Omicron.
First Omicron death in UK reported.
Hate crime is a standing agenda item at the monthly multi-agency Vulnerability Board
meeting and some incidents are discussed at thrice-weekly morning briefings.
While the vast majority of these incidents had little impact in Tunbridge Wells they would
have increased local tensions within certain communities. Partners are kept abreast of these
issues and invited to feed into local community impact assessments to ensure we are sighted
on what otherwise may be hidden motivations for verbal and physical abuse.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

10 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
130
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Priority 1: Domestic Abuse
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from January 2021 – December 2021
Level of Crime:

2,504 crimes (last year 2,391)

Peer Comparison: Second Lowest in 12 Kent areas
Annual Change:

Increase of 113 reported incidents (+4.7%)

Kent Comparison 2019-2021

West Kent Comparison – Six-year trend
During the 12 months from January 2021 to December 2021, there were 2,391 recorded
incidents of domestic abuse in Tunbridge Wells reported to Kent Police. This is an increase
of 4.7%, against increases of 4% in 2020 and 9% in 2019.
The impact of the pandemic cannot be underestimated here. While DA reports to Kent Police
remained steady DAVSS experienced a significant increase in cases requiring emergency

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

11 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
131
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
intervention and immediate complex personal/safety plans. Additionally, the impact of COVID
emerged as a new tool for controlling and coercive behaviour.
The proportion of DA reports to Kent Police that are repeat victims was 24.1% in 2021
(22.1% in 2020).
The repeat victimisation rate for DAVSS clients in West Kent was 7% in Q1, 4% in Q2 and
8% in Q3.
The low repeat rate reported by DAVSS reinforces the known benefits of long-term
wraparound support for clients and their children.

Outcomes
Provider:

Domestic Abuse Volunteers and Support Service (DAVSS)

Funding:

£18,000 (PCC, TWBC)

Service: Provide domestic abuse support services to men and women at all levels of risk.
Encourage early reporting by promoting the helpline and available services. Provide
workshops and training to raise awareness and promote prevention.
Outcomes: During 2021 DAVSS continued to receive a high volume of self-referrals,
referrals from clients and external agencies and others accessing their domestic abuse
services.
Still of significance is the level of crisis in which clients found themselves, resulting in multiple
immediate interventions to prevent further escalation. Additionally, over half of new clients
also presented with issues relating to COVID-19 restrictions (even as those restrictions
began to be relaxed) such as anxiety, depression, poor mental health and suicidal ideations.
As part of a whole family approach DAVSS, with the support of appropriate partners,
provided the necessary wrap-around support for victims and their children.
As DAVSS put it “We continue to see an increase in clients who have been subjected to
significant violence, and an increase in the number of prolific perpetrators who have multiple
victims often at the same time and committing a higher degree of violence”.
Repeat victimisation for DAVSS clients continues to be very low demonstrating the hugely
positive impact of DAVSS tailored wrap-around support for as long as needed by the client.
DAVSS continues to provide extended helpline hours (10am - 4pm Monday to Friday) which
was doubled from three to six hours in response to the emerging pandemic in 2020. Helpline
calls increased hugely during the past 18-months with a high proportion of referrals graded
as high risk or high need.
Also, during 2021:

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

12 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
132
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Freedom Programme
DAVSS worked to accommodate both virtual and face-to-face courses for all participants
based on participant preference. As a result one online Freedom Programme and two faceto-face courses were run, with good attendance.
Children’s Freedom
Delivered two face-to-face Children’s Freedom courses with 10 attendees. Further
programmes have been scheduled.
Own My Life course
10 victims completed the Own My Life course (a more modern version of the Freedom
Programme)
Volunteers
DAVSS currently has around 44 volunteers, contributing around 20,788 hours during Q1-Q2
at a value of £315,146 (Kent average earning rate). A further cohort of volunteers will be
recruited for the 2022 training course.
Client quote: “I have been supported by DAVSS for the best part of 2021. It took an
enormous amount of courage to make that first call. I thought I was being so dramatic. Being
told I was a victim of domestic abuse was and still is one of the hardest, if not the hardest
things I have ever had to face and acknowledge. My battle is daily. DAVSS have been my
rock. My guidance, strength, knowledge, friend and without doubt people whom I could trust
and depend on. To hear validation that I’m not crazy and not to blame helped to relieve my
fears. Their support has not faltered and is ongoing. I honestly would never ever have had
the courage to keep fighting back and to believe I was going to take control of my own life if it
hadn’t been for DAVSS and the support they have given and continue to give me. I hope that
one day I can really help others in the same way as they have helped me and continue to do
so. I can never thank them enough. I will forever be grateful. Thank you.”
Some numbers from the DAVSS Support to Court scheme:
Activity
Legal options advice
Pro bono Solicitor appts
Civil court cases
Criminal court cases
McKenzie Friend Support
Non-Molestation Orders
Prohibitive Steps Order
Occupation Order
Residence Order
Child Arrangement Orders
Undertakings Agreement
Restraining Orders
Witness Care Contacts
Other punitive measures

Q1-Q3
2127
74
32
16
77
109
8
13
1
38
13
10
12
4

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

13 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
133
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Provider:

Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP)

Funding:

£3,000 (PCC)

Service: Provide support to male perpetrators of domestic abuse to change their behaviour
through the Community Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP)
Outcomes:
Q1: CDAP has 13 men active on the programme, five from Tunbridge Wells.
COVID-19 restrictions saw CDAP's two-hour weekly group sessions continue via Zoom.
Additional 45-minute 1-1 phone sessions were provided for those men who felt unable to
participate in online sessions.
Q2: CDAP remains at high capacity with 17 men active on the 27-week programme with five
being from Tunbridge Wells. Of the 17, one joined during Q2 with a further two completing
the course. CDAP's 2-hour weekly group sessions continue via Zoom with some men
receiving 1-1 inputs.
Q3: Eleven men were active in the programme during Q3. Four remained from Tunbridge
Wells, with two from Tonbridge and Malling and one from Sevenoaks. Four others were from
other Kent areas with three of those being self-funded.
CDAP's 2-hour weekly group sessions continue via Zoom with two men receiving alternative
1-1 inputs – one due to mental health issues and the other due to English not being his first
language. Both men completed the course during this quarter.
CDAP also delivered 'Healthy Relationship' input to 200 students at Tunbridge Wells Girls'
Grammar School.
Data shows that since 2014, 75% of the 112 men who remain on the programme beyond
week 6, go onto complete the entire course.

Look Ahead / KIDAS
Look Ahead provide domestic abuse support in Tunbridge Wells as part of the Kent
Integrated Domestic Abuse Service (KIDAS) contract. Here is a snapshot, taken from their
Q3 report, of the services they provide.
Innovation Funding
A standard move-on package for clients in refuges is now available in-house equal to the
support previously available through the Kent Support and Assistance Service (KSAS). All
customers can expect to receive furniture, furnishings and equipment to assist the ease of
transition into independent housing depending on their individual circumstances/belongings.
Police Visits

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

14 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
134
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Look Ahead’s IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) team have been working very
closely with the Kent Police Hidden Harms team, going out on patrol and visiting repeat
victims and non-engagers on a weekly visiting schedule. This work has resulted in some
excellent outcomes.
Perpetrator Programme
Look Ahead are involved in the Perpetrator Programme alongside Kent Police and
Interventions Alliance providing the Victim Link Worker service within the project. This
followed a funding application from the PCC to the Home Office to deliver perpetrator
programmes on a one-to-one and group work basis. Look Ahead will manage the risk to
associated victims.
Partnership Working
Look Ahead are to continue funding for a further year the Cyber Clinics project through
Protection Against Stalking and the Cyber Helpline. The clinics now take place twice a month
(previously monthly) following feedback from clients that twice a month with a morning and
afternoon/evening clinic works better.
Look Ahead have also commissioned Protection Against Stalking to deliver six Learn Over
Lunch “Stalking in the Workplace” sessions for local businesses.
Pets in Refuge
Look Ahead, in partnership with Clarion, are working on a project with landlords to allow pets
in refuges. They met with several landlords who said they would consider such a proposal. A
working group will be set up and Look Ahead met with the Dog Trust and Cat Protection
League who have offered to extend the time a pet can be fostered through them and an offer
of support with injections and other pet treatments.
Refuge
As well as curry nights and local nature walks, some recent festive activities for residents
have included:
•
•
•
•
•

Christmas party for children – including a Santa visit
A ‘Princess’ visit for children via Once Upon a Wish
Santa’s grotto visits
Christmas presents – Toy boxes, Mayors’ Toy Appeal, donations, gifting tree.
Ice skating

Serenity Café
Look Ahead undertook some crowd funding to open a survivor/thriver café in Tunbridge
Wells. A town centre venue (Manna Café) has been secured with an expectation to open
during Q4 2021/22. This will be a peer led initiative with domestic abuse support workers in
attendance.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

15 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
135
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Funding
Look Ahead received Reconnect funding for Equine Therapy delivered by TEAL (Therapeutic
Equine Assisted Learning). Children have attended in groups from refuge, and children from
the community have been accessing one-to-one sessions.
Look Ahead also received LCPG funding to run the Day Programme in schools in West Kent
as well as top up funding to offer a therapeutic follow up visit. Fegans (local children’s
counselling service) have been contacted to provide this service on a sessional basis.
Look Ahead, through LCPG funding, are currently creating an animation for primary school
children with assistance from Early Help and local schools, who will be trained in delivery by
Look Ahead.
One Stop Shop
Look Ahead are leading on the One Stop Shop (OSS) programme. A face-to-face service has
now resumed though there’s a temporary virtual offer, via Zoom, during Q3 while the
Tonbridge offices are refurbished by the property owner.
Three organisations are running the sessions on a rotational basis as the expert agency.
These are Protection Against Stalking (PAS), Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Services
(DAVSS) and Look Ahead.
An OSS now runs in Cranbrook and a further provision in Tunbridge Wells is being explored.
Other
Look Ahead continue to work on a number of initiatives with KIDAS (Kent Integrated
Domestic Abuse Service) partners to strengthen the offer and ensure consistency across
Kent. This includes streamlining training so that partners will receive the same offer across
the county.
A DA Champions Programme for partners, businesses and the community is also underway.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

16 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
136
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Priority 2: Substance Misuse and
Alcohol Abuse
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from January 2021 – December 2021
Drug Possession: 159 incidents (last year 153)
Peer Comparison: Second (by volume), same as 2020.
Annual Change:

Up 6 (3.9%)

Three-year monthly trend – black line Tunbridge Wells, red line county average

County comparison, black line county average

Drug Trafficking: 52 incidents (last year 66)

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

17 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
137
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Peer Comparison: Third by volume, same as 2020.
Annual Change:

Down 14 (21.2%)

Three-year trend – black line Tunbridge Wells, red line county average

County comparison, black line county average
Between January 2021 and December 2021, there were 1.8 recorded drug offences
(combined possession and trafficking offences) per 1,000 population in Tunbridge Wells
(down from 1.9), placing us joint second lowest in Kent. The Kent district average for the
same period is 2.4 (no change from 2020).
Of the seven local authority areas in Kent which recorded an increase in possession offences
during the calendar year, Tunbridge Wells saw the smallest rise overall.
Our Community Policing Team continues to target local drug dealers and growers, and
county lines suppliers bringing, cannabis cocaine and heroin into the district.
Some successes of note

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

18 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
138
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
In May several young people trying to purchase alcohol were turned away from Noble Wines.
They subsequently secured alcohol from an adult (a ‘proxy’ sale) at the Rose and Crown.
Police attended the location, in good time, and alcohol and cannabis were seized from the
young people. The male who undertook the proxy sale was attended to at a later time.
In August a south London drug dealer who helped orchestrate a cocaine supply network into
Tunbridge Wells received a five-year prison sentence. The 25-year-old played a key role in
directing multiple drug runners to users’ homes. He was initially arrested in 2019 after being
stopped by officers in Mountfield Gardens.
In September Chief Inspector Changizi and Detective Superintendent Shaun White briefed
members on county lines activity. No identified county lines gangs were known to be active in
Tunbridge Wells at the time (still the case in February 2022). They both stressed that the
process of bringing organised criminal groups to justice was time-consuming but the policing
team were dogged in their pursuit of such criminal activity and they were assisted by the
vigilance of many other partners who were often the “eyes and ears” needed to support
There also appeared to be fewer issues related to cuckooing, whereby dealers from outside
an area take over a resident’s home and uses their property to supply drugs to local dealers
and others. With fewer opportunities for risk-free travel during various lockdowns it would
appear that drugs, specifically cannabis, were more often being grown locally. This is an
issue the CSU is sighted on almost daily through local intelligence reports and morning
briefings.
In January 2022, the Community Policing Team were on patrol in Mount Ephraim, when they
spoke to the driver of a vehicle that had stopped outside a hotel. Suspecting he was involved
in the supply of Class A drugs he was searched under the Misuse of Drugs Act and a
quantity of cocaine deals and some cash were seized. The man, from Newcastle upon Tyne,
was arrested and more cocaine was found in his hotel room. He was later charged with
possession of Class A drugs with intent to supply.
Also in January 2022, two men, aged 27 and 24, were charged after a drugs raid on a
property in Rowan Tree Road revealed nearly 250 cannabis plants. The men, both of no fixed
address, were charged with being concerned in the production of a controlled drug.
Again in January, a stolen motorbike was recovered by officers searching an address in Five
Oak Green. The Community Policing Team attended the property in Sychem Lane to execute
a search warrant issued under the Misuse of Drugs Act. Once inside they located cannabis
plants under cultivation and the bike, which had been reported stolen during a burglary in
Tonbridge earlier in the month. A 33-year-old man from Crowborough was arrested.
In respect of risk reduction and awareness of the harm that can be caused by substance and
alcohol abuse Kenward Trust and St Giles Trust were deployed throughout the year to offer
advice to youths and young adults. They also provided a positive presence in key locations in
Tunbridge Wells, Paddock Wood and Cranbrook while linking in with important stakeholders
at the monthly District Contextual Safeguarding Meeting.
Drug and alcohol treatment service Change Grow Live (CGL) experienced a steady flow of
clients throughout the pandemic with 179 clients engaged in treatment during Q3 of 2021/22
(185 during the same period of 2020/21). CGL saw an increase in alcohol related

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

19 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
139
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
interventions across the West Kent area during the early days of the pandemic before settling
back to ‘normal’ numbers. The use of digital engagement has been a huge benefit to the
service especially in relation to professional discussions regarding the safeguarding of
individuals and children.
During the early days of the pandemic CGL also experienced a loss of chemists being able to
deliver a full service to prescribed patients forcing the service to change the way they
provided medications.
CGL is returning to normal service and has been able to increase face-to-face interventions
and a degree of face-to-face groupwork again. A hybrid service now helps provide a more
robust provision.

Outcomes
Provider:

Kenward Trust

Funding:

£7,000 (PCC)

Service:

To deploy substance misuse workers to hotspots within the borough to carry
out 1:1 and group work with adults and young people.

Outcomes: Kenward Youth outreach continued to deliver substance misuse information and
education. The team speak to the young people about the dangers of drugs and alcohol,
“positive choices” and the issues of grooming and exploitation in respect of county lines.
In Q2 372 young people were seen and spoken to in five key areas: Calverley Grounds,
Grosvenor and Hilbert Rec, St John’s Park, Grove Park and Tunbridge Wells train station.
The main issue is still cannabis use. Alcohol and energy drinks being the second biggest
issue.
Mental health is another issue frequently discussed and Kenward are looking at how they can
support young people displaying signs of adverse mental health. For this, they are
considering bringing in an apprentice with some exposure to mental health services to learn
the skills of intervention outreach and county lines in order to support young people.
A core group of the young people spoken with are known to partner agencies.
Main substances discussed:
•
•
•
•

Cannabis
Alcohol
E-drinks
Vaping and smoking

Schools work
All schools in Tunbridge wells are being offered awareness sessions; either Think Differently
or Cascade.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

20 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
140
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Mascalls School
Twelve year-12 students completed a Cascade course and workers delivered substance
misuse sessions to years seven and eight. Students who visited Kenward in Yalding for a
certificate award ceremony were also rewarded with activities such as archery and disc golf,
as well as a “meet and greet” with the alpacas!
Future plans
For outreach sessions Kenward would like to bring some activities, such as disc golf, to parks
and open spaces, and would like to offer free taster days for young people to participate in
similar activities at Kenward Trust in Yalding with the substance misuse workers. Kenward
are seeking external funding to be able to do this.

Provider:

Tunbridge Wells Churches Together Street Pastors

Funding:

£2,500 (PCC)

Service:

Provide a positive presence in the night-time economy.

Outcomes: Typically, the Tunbridge Wells Churches Together Street Pastors would provide
dynamic safeguarding, a calming presence and suitable advice to late-night town centre
revellers, as well as being a useful link to emergency services. However, with some
restrictions still in place in 2021 and some venues reducing their hours due to lower footfall,
opportunities for an effective late-night presence were somewhat stymied.
That said, Pastors were out on 26 evenings from July 2021 to February 2022 – mostly on
Friday evenings with some Thursdays and Saturdays during the summer months. Here’s a
snapshot of their duties one evening, followed by an Infographic-type summary.
Saturday 18 December 2021
22:10 Street Team out on street after prayers with the Prayer Pastors back at base.
22:40 The Pantiles is quiet, people around but venues are not very busy.
23:10 Castle Street (Cassidy’s) quiet, there are people around but little conversation. Outside
the Bedford the team meet a young lady, P, whose father died the week previous, his funeral
is on Christmas eve. Police are around the town, they have spoken to the street team.
Pastors pray for P and her family at this difficult time.
23:35 Pastors outside Pitcher and Piano. Several small groups waiting to go in, they are
having their Covid passes checked. All well behaved.
00:02 Street team outside Weatherspoons. A number of people around, a little loud but all
good natured.
00:25 Street team made aware of a man, D, being a bit aggressive down Mount Pleasant
Road. Contact made with CCTV Ops. No immediate concerns. Team wander down to have a
look.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

21 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
141
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
00:50 Team down the bottom end of town, lots of people about. No sign of D, they are
working their way back to the Church.
01:00 Street Team back.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

22 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
142
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Provider:

We Are With You

Funding:

N/A

Service:

We Are With You is a charity providing free, confidential support to people
experiencing issues with drugs, alcohol or adverse mental health

Outcomes: We Are With You has been working in line with government guidance, resuming
face-to-face delivery and returning to schools and the community. To keep our staff and
young people safe we have developed and continued to review additional precautions
including risk assessments, PPE and covid-specific group-work consent forms and
agreements with schools. We have continued to face challenges, particularly around access
to schools due to breakouts of Covid 19.
Our Early Intervention and RiskIt group delivery has been particularly affected by the
pandemic as our access to schools has been significantly reduced. As we ease out of
restrictions this is becoming easier. However, we are still struggling with schools as they are
restricting access to visitors. We are keen to secure bookings for the remainder of 2022 to
ensure that we are reaching as many young people with early intervention.
We continue to deliver Specialist Treatment, taking a blended approach of face-to-face and
remote delivery, guided by the young person's preference and availability. Research into our
outcome data from pre and during covid showed that young people continued to make good
progress and achieve positive outcomes, despite the remote delivery model. We have
maintained a steady flow of referrals throughout the pandemic and we will be looking to
increase our referrals from April to enable us to meet our annual targets. Themes around
specific substances, patterns of use and amounts taken remain stable. The pattern of
alcohol, cocaine and ecstasy use among young people in Kent remains higher than the
national average, but they continue to achieve positive outcomes.
Tunbridge Wells clients from Jan 2020 to Jan 2022:
•
•
•

First pandemic lockdown (2020):
Second pandemic lockdown (2021):
Third (financial) year (2021):

28
20
10

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

23 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
143
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Priority 3: Anti-social Behaviour
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from January 2021 – December 2021
Reporting levels: 1,554 (previous period 2,354)
Peer comparison: Best out of 12 Kent areas
Annual change:

Decrease of 800 reports (-34%)

All ASB graded incidents 2019-2021

Percentage change over 2020 calendar year
In 2020, Tunbridge Wells experienced a 58% increase in anti-social behaviour over 2019 with
much of the increase attributed to residents reporting breaches of COVID-19 regulations. It’s
clear from the graph above that rates in most districts have fallen to levels that might be
expected in a normal year – compare 2019 to 2021 in the above chart.
.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

24 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
144
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Ward reports
ASB covers a broad range of behaviours, from nuisance neighbours and noisy parties to
nuisance parking and noisy vehicles. For the overall category of anti-social behaviour
Tunbridge Wells recorded the lowest levels in Kent in 2021.
This is how the headline figure is broken down by ward:

Ward comparison - calendar year breakdown
Setting aside the spike in reporting in 2020, the town centre wards show a decrease in ASB
over 2019 rates, perhaps demonstrating the reduced opportunities for people to gather and
socialise in shared open spaces, and pubs and clubs. On the other hand, some residential
areas, such as Southborough, Paddock Wood and Cranbrook saw an increase in incidents,
matching the reports we received almost daily through councillors, residents, professionals
and at our multi-agency morning briefings

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

25 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
145
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
A number of nuisance/noisy vehicle reports were tagged as ‘COVID-19 related’ in 2020 and
a deepish dive into the numbers suggested people were likely meeting up in car parks and
other open spaces. Reports were down in 2021 in most neighbourhoods but there has been
an increase in some wards over 2019 levels.
The chart below shows some modest increases in some wards with the bulk of reporting
coming from the Sherwood ward, which includes North Farm and Knights Park. This area
received a significant amount of attention from partners and was ‘red routed’ for a time, which
would ensure police officers diverted to the area at random times to disrupt the habits of
those who might make repeat visits in ‘souped-up’ vehicles and to provide reassurance to
residents. One local motorist was visited by police after we received good evidence about the
driver’s anti-social behaviour, which he may not have realised was disturbing residents
beyond the tree line that surrounds the car park. The landowner has committed to installing
more signage, in more visible locations.

Motor vehicle nuisance on road, including noise
As shown on the chart on the next page, some wards saw an increase in neighbour nuisance
over and above the 2019 and 2020 levels. Neighbour disputes can be quite complex and
time-consuming to resolve with lasting solutions often requiring extensive close working
between partner agencies. It’s also rare to find both parties happy with any specific outcome.
Also on the next page, drunken or rowdy behaviour saw a drop in numbers, over both 2020
and 2019 levels, in some areas.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

26 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
146
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Neighbours - disputes / nuisance incl. noise (not noisy parties)

Drunken or rowdy behaviour

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

27 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
147
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Clearly, there was a huge increase in reports of rowdy or nuisance gatherings in public in
2020 with calls relating to breaches of COVID-19 rules – peaking in the early months of the
pandemic – making up the bulk of the increase. Expected reductions arrived in 2021 which,
by May, were trending just below 2019 levels.

With some limited restrictions in place at various times throughout 2021 the Community
Safety Team and the wider partnership were mostly able to engage with residents,
sometimes on the doorstep, to address the issues they were experiencing.
Other actions and activities of note undertaken during the year:
•

•
•

•

•
•

•

Served seven warning letters, 21 Community Protection Warnings (CPW), six
Community Protection Notices (an escalation following breach of a CPW) and one
Acceptable Behaviour Agreement for issues related to anti-social behaviour or
neighbour nuisance. One Community Protection Notice was challenged in court but
the complaint was withdrawn on the day.
In June, there was a day of action in and around Tunbridge Wells town centre,
specifically aimed at tackling anti-social behaviour among young people.
In July, during ASB awareness week, police and partners held a special youth
engagement event Calverley Park before spreading further afield to engage with
youths and young adults in known hotspots. Three people were also arrested for drugrelated offences.
Other coordinated activities during half-term holidays and exam results weeks also
helped to more effectively prevent and respond to issues caused by groups of young
people gathering in town.
A closure order was granted on a Southborough property associated with persistent
anti-social behaviour.
Additional outreach and police patrols were directed towards the Southborough hub
following significant issues of criminal damage, trespassing, verbal abuse and threats
from a small group of children; one of whom received a conditional caution on
conviction of related offences.
Safe Town Partnership ran a self-funded Christmas operation to deter shoplifters and
to support efforts to tackle town centre anti-social behaviour.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

28 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
148
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•
•
•

Secured KCC members grant funding to install a deployable CCTV camera to resolve
issues related to anti-social behaviour on a railway footbridge close to residential
properties in Paddock Wood. Some early successes were achieved.
Moved a deployable CCTV camera from one area of Showfields (where cannabis
related vehicle nuisance had been mitigated) to another nearby location associated
with low-level criminal damage and harassment.
We used a deployable camera in Five Oak Green to tackle persistent anti-social
behaviour and secure details of vehicles associated with criminal activity. A related
arrest of a young adult linked to catalytic converter thefts was also secure.
Managed 12 unauthorised encampments between March and August. Two groups
were responsible for most encampments as they moved between private and public
land in Paddock Wood and North Farm. One encampment of 12 vehicles set up on
Rusthall Cricket Pitch and then Yew Tree Road car park. A further encampment of
seven vehicles occupied the cricket area of Hawkenbury Rec for five days.
One limited ‘all out’ multi-agency event in Tunbridge Wells and Paddock Wood.
The Civil Injunction served on a known female in 2020 by Kent Police with support
from partners has continued to reduce the impact this person was having in our public
spaces.
The Council’s Community Safety Officer frequently locked up St John’s Park Beltring
Road gates at 9pm during the summer months, with assistance from locals and
councillors, to address late night anti-social behaviour.
Partners provided multiple locations for the Kent Police dedicated ASB car to
repeatedly visit during key days and times of the week.
One vehicle associated with noise and driving nuisance at Knights Park was visited by
Kent Police officers and given words of advice.
St Giles Trust and Kenward Trust outreach workers were directed to areas associated
with substance related anti-social behaviour through the District Contextual
Safeguarding meeting.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

29 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
149
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Priority 4: Road Safety
Current figures refer to the 12-month period from July 2020 – June 2021 unless stated.
Level of Concern: 232 Casualties (previous period 301)
Peer Comparison: Best in Kent (previously third) by volume and population
Annual Change:

69 fewer casualties (-23%)

All ages - all casualties
District comparison 2020/21

All ages - all casualties
District comparison 2018/19 to
2020/21

All ages - all casualties
Casualty: A person killed or
injured in an accident.
Casualties are sub-divided into
killed, seriously injured and
slightly injured.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

30 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
150
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
All ages - killed or seriously
injured (KSI)
Examples of serious injury are:
Fracture, internal injury, severe
cuts, crushing, burns,
concussion, severe shock
requiring hospital treatment.

Children under 16 years of
age - all casualties

Children under 16 years of
age - killed or seriously
injured

All casualties by road user
Oct 20 – Sep 21

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

31 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
151
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
All casualties by age group
Oct 20 – Sep 21

All Kent districts saw a reduction in casualties during the period July 2019 – June 2020 with
the first strict lockdown likely contributing significantly to the reduction. With just two
exceptions, the period July 2020 – June 2021 also saw a reduction in casualty numbers
across Kent local authorities. The biggest reduction by far being seen in Tunbridge Wells.
When calculated against population Tunbridge Wells saw 2.0 casualties per 1000 residents
(previously, 2.6). The Kent average is 2.68.
One noticeable exception to this positive reporting is in the Killed or Seriously Injured
category (KSI) for children under the age of 16. For the period Jul 2020 to June 2021 there
were 11 incidents, up from seven during the same period 2019/20 and up from four in
2018/19. Thankfully, none of these incidents were fatalities and the number are low, but 11
seriously injured children is of concern and worthy of further attention. A request has been
made to Kent Highways for further information about these incidents to look at what
preventative work might be done to avoid further occurrences. The locations will also be
crosscheck against the reports received to the near-miss register.

Ward reports
The charts below show the distribution of Killed or Seriously Injured and Slight Injuries across
the borough over a three-year period. Where a count for a particular year is missing or where
a ward does not exist the count was zero.

Under-16 Casualties –
Killed or Seriously
Injured

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

32 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
152
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
All Age Groups –
Killed or Seriously
Injured

All Age Groups –
Slight Injuries

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

33 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
153
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Under-16 Casualties –
Slight Injuries
July – June

Outcomes
Engagement opportunities were limited but Salus’ Safety in Action event, which was
cancelled in 2020 did go ahead in 2021 for 572 students from 17 Tunbridge Wells schools.
The annual Captain Safety theatre event for urban and rural students at KS2 did not go
ahead for the second year running.
All Tunbridge Wells PCSOs were trained to use speed detection devices in 2020 and have
undertaken speed watch operations, conditions and duties-permitting, on a number of
occasions over the past two years, either with registered speed watch groups or during
police-led road checks.
In April 2021, CSU police officers and TWBC Street Scene officers visited Paddock Wood for
speed checks and to use available powers to examine driving documentation and waste
carrying licences. Some identified 30mph roads in Paddock Wood were unsuitable to safely
pull cars over (having close bends and bumper to bumper traffic). However, they were able to
provide good visibility using the speed gun device during peak times, including near Mascalls
Academy and further along Maidstone Road. After a period of time they relocated to Capel
where one Traffic Offence Report (TOR) for speeding was issued. TORs are evaluated by
the traffic summons team who then decide whether to issue a penalty notice, a summons or
other action (e.g. send a driver on a speed awareness course).
In January 2022, officers attended Sandhurst Road, Sherwood for a speed enforcement
session, for which local residents expressed gratitude on social media. This followed
requests for additional hi-vis patrols from a local councillor who had been particularly active

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

34 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
154
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
with a Speedwatch Group in locations such as Knights Way, Birken Road, Greggs Wood
Road and Sandhurst Road.
The following areas have active Speedwatch Groups: Ashurst, Benenden, Bidborough,
Brenchley, Five Oak Green, Frittenden, Goudhurst, Groombridge, Hawkhurst, Horsmonden,
Lamberhurst, Langton Green, Matfield, Pembury, Rusthall, Sandhurst, Sherwood,
Sissinghurst, Southborough & High Brooms, Speldhurst, St John's.
An application to set up a new group in Broadwater has also been submitted by a local
councillor.

Part 2 - Conclusion
This strategic assessment sets out the priorities that the Community Safety Partnership
should focus on in 2022/23 and helps us to determine what services should be funded.
Crime figures are, as always, presented with a number of caveats, particularly with respect to
long-term trends, and especially so for data related to 2020 and to a lesser degree 2021.
However, we are fortunate to live in an area where rates of crime and anti-social behaviour
are relatively low crime area and we’re pleased the data shows Tunbridge Wells to be the
safest place in Kent; albeit by small margins over our West Kent neighbours.

Domestic Abuse
During the 2021 calendar year domestic abuse reports made to Kent Police increased by
4.7%, similar to the increase in 2020 and close to half the increase experienced in 2019.
The impact of the pandemic on the difficult choices people have had to make over the past
two years cannot be underestimated. While domestic abuse reports to Kent Police remained
steady over the past two years, with occasion increases when conditions were relaxed,
DAVSS, we know, received record levels of referrals, helpline calls and high need cases over
the past 18-24 months resulting in a significant increase in emergency interventions and
complex safety planning.
The proportion of repeat victims contacting Kent Police also remained steady at around 24%
in 2021. It was 22% in 2020 when this metric was again made available following updates to
police computer systems.
By contract, and although it’s not a direct comparison, the repeat victimisation rate for
DAVSS clients (across West Kent) was 7% in Q1, 4% in Q2 and 8% in Q3. The low repeat
rate reported by DAVSS reinforces the known benefits of long-term wraparound support for
clients and their children.
Last year, the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 became law. This Act places a new burden on local
authorities to provide better support and safe accommodation for victims needing to leave

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

35 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
155
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
their home. For this we have received DLUHC funding which we have pooled with Tonbridge
and Malling to employ a DA Co-ordinator for FY 2022/23.
Given the focus on domestic abuse, the new Act, the continued rise in reporting (across the
county, not just Tunbridge Wells), the increased levels of support required (and provided, by
DAVSS and KIDAS) we propose to retain DA as a CSP priority.
We recommend Domestic Abuse is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Drug Offences
A surprisingly modest rise over 2020 levels but we know from our Kenward partners that our
town centre open spaces, from parks to car parks, are popular hangouts for smokers and
drinkers, be they youths or young adults. We know this to be the case in other parts of the
borough also.
We also have an issue, either real or perceived, with spiking and ‘sticking’ in the NTE. This is
being addressed under the VAWG umbrella but the links to drugs and, possibly alcohol, is a
factor beyond VAWG given that we’ve also had reports of males being ‘stuck’.
We have also experienced an increase in reports of cannabis use in the home and garden –
reports regularly coming our way at morning briefings – which we look to tackle in partnership
with RSLs, where relevant, and through Community Protection Warnings.
In August, a 25yo South London drug dealer received a five-year prison sentence for
orchestrating a cocaine supply network into Tunbridge Wells. In January 2022 the
Community Policing Team stopped a driver on Mount Ephraim. He was searched and a
quantity of cocaine deals and some cash were seized. The man is from Newcastle. He was
arrested and more cocaine was found in his hotel room. He was charged with possession of
Class A drugs with intent to supply.
However, no identified county lines gangs were known to be active in Tunbridge Wells at the
time, as reported to members in September 2021 by Chief Inspector Changizi and Detective
Superintendent Shaun White. That was still believed to be the case in February 2022 when
this report was written.
There also appeared to be fewer issues related to cuckooing over the past 24-months or so,
whereby dealers from outside an area take over a resident’s home and use their property to
supply drugs to local dealers and others. With fewer opportunities for risk-free travel during
various lockdowns it would appear that drugs, specifically cannabis, were more often being
grown locally. This is an issue the CSU is sighted on almost daily through local intelligence
reports and morning briefings.
So, the issue of supply and demand has not gone away but perhaps the business model has
changed.
Also in January 2022, two men in their mid-20s were charged after a drugs raid on a property
in Rowan Tree Road where close to 250 cannabis plants were found. Both men were of no
fixed address and were charged with being concerned in the production of a controlled drug.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

36 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
156
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
Again in January, the Community Policing Team executed a search warrant under the
Misuse of Drugs Act on a property in FOG. A motorbike reported stolen during a burglary in
Tonbridge was recovered and A 33-year-old man from Crowborough was arrested on
suspicion of cultivating cannabis, theft and handling stolen property.
As mentioned in a previous assessment, while the risk of being a victim of violence or knife
crime in this borough is very low, incidents of violence are closely linked to drug supply and
alcohol abuse.

We have continued to deploy outreach workers to our open spaces and other key locations in
Tunbridge Wells, Paddock Wood and Cranbrook while partner agencies CGL and We Are
With You (formerly Addaction) are commissioned to address alcohol and substance addiction
with adults and young people referred into their service.
I think these three strands: drug use in the public realm, in the NTE and increasingly
emanating from residential properties (as well as the cultivation issue) is justification for
retaining Substance and Alcohol Abuse as a priority for 2022/23.
We recommend Substance and Alcohol Abuse is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Anti-social Behaviour
Anti-social behaviour decreased significantly with respect to 2020 levels with 800 fewer
reports. This was expected due to the high number of covid rule-breaking reports that came
our way in 2020, and to a lesser degree in 2021. But Tunbridge Wells, along with all LAs, has
seen a rise in ASB over 2019 levels.
Again, our popular open spaces and NTE attracts all ages, sometimes in high numbers, into
town and we’ve also experienced a fair amount of public ASB in Paddock Wood and, to a
lesser degree, in Cranbrook, as reported and recorded at morning briefings.
Anti-social behaviour in town centre areas is often linked to excess alcohol intake or drug use
in parks, car parks and other open spaces. Coupled with sensible use of deployable CCTV,
visible outreach resources such as Early Help, Salus and St Giles Trust play a key role in
maintaining Tunbridge Wells as a safe place to be.
That said, we are looking to implement Public Spaces Protection Orders in St John’s Park,
town centre multi-storey car parks and Sherwood Lake to address a range of anti-social
issues so it makes sense to retain anti-social behaviour as a priority for the coming year.
We have again included violence-related issues in this priority to ensure we are sighted on
the risks to the public, and young people themselves, of anti-social behaviour escalating to
more serious public disorder, or worse.
We recommend Anti-social Behaviour is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

37 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
157
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A

Road Safety
Road Safety data can be difficult to quantify, especially when collision and casualty numbers
are low – we have the lowest level of casualties across Kent and most of the subcategories
are on a downward trend.
However, Under-16 KSIs (Killed or Seriously Injured) have been slowly creeping up, albeit in
very small numbers but we are now into double figures. Thankfully, of the eleven KSIs that
occurred from July to June none were fatal, so all were graded as seriously injured.
Of the two fatalities that occurred between Jan and Sep 2021, one was a motorcyclist and
the other a car drivers, both were aged between 25-64.
We do have a near-miss reporting tool on the Council website, through which we have
received 190+ reports since it was introduced in April 2021. We are working our way through
the reports and categorising them in anticipation of further work. So far the categories identify
are:
Dangerous driving, 49; Undue care – driver, 23; Obstruction by parking, 16; Dangerous
junction, 13; Unclear, 12; Driving on Pavement, 12; Narrow road, 8; Obstruction by signage,
4; Inattentive child, 4; eScooter, 3; Cyclist danger, Item on pavement, Blind bend, 2 of each;
Cycle path flooding, Carr's Corner, Blind junction, Blind corner, Dangerous bend,
Inappropriate speed limit, Bend in the road, Lights favour vehicles, Zebra danger, Obstruction
by parking – pedestrians, Obstruction by unknown, Obstruction by vegetation, Pavement –
hazard, Poor paving, Poor road marking, Poor road surface, Salt bin damaged, Item in road,
1 of each.
While most appear to be closely related to dangerous driving we will look to narrow them
down further and perhaps add a sub-category to ensure we’re properly catching the issue
being reported (for instance, dangerous driving on a narrow road or blind bend). We may also
contact some of our informants for further info. We will also match the 11 Under-16 KSIs with
reports made to the near-miss register. This will require a deeper dive into the KSI stats by
Kent Highways. A request has been made.
Given that we may be able to generate a project or two from the near miss register I would
propose we retain road safety as a priority.
We recommend Road Safety is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Violence Against Women and Girls
While we don’t have any specific offence data of note, we added VAWG as a priority in Q3 of
2021/22 because of significant concern for female safety in the public realm after high-profile
tragedies caught the national interest. It would also allow us to capture the work already
being done in the borough to address anti-social and violent issues in our public spaces and
NTE venues.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

38 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
158
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

Appendix A
We also received reports from the PCC VAWG survey and the Home Office’s StreetSafe
Reporting Tool. StreetSafe received 38 reports for Tunbridge Wells (27 submitted by females
and 11 by males). Our mapping team have converted the report co-ordinates into map
locations so that we may see if there’s anything we can do to improve the locations that these
reports would wish to bring to our attention.
The issues most frequently mentioned on the reports are
•
•
•
•

Poor or no street lighting
Restricted visibility
Signs of drug or alcohol use
Absence of CCTV

We’re hopeful that another round of Safer Streets Funding will be made available this year
and this data, along with the PCC’s own survey results, may help to support any applications
we might consider.
We propose we retain VAWG as a priority for 2022/23 as we have a solid action plan and
there’s still much work to do around the theme.

Recommended Priorities for 2022/23
1. Domestic Abuse
2. Substance Misuse and Supply, and Alcohol Abuse (inc. violence-related issues and
knife crime)
3. Anti-social and High-risk Behaviour (including violence-related issues)
4. Road Safety
5. Violence Against Women and Girls

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Page

39 of 39

Community
Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 2022-23
Page
159
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 2

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Community Safety
Partnership Plan 2022-23
and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Produced by Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager
Please contact terry.hughes@tunbridgewells.gov.uk
Community Safety Partnership sign-off: 17 February 2022

Page

1 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 161

Appendix B

Introduction
The Strategic Assessment produced for the Tunbridge Wells Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) helps establish priority themes for the 2022/23 Partnership Plan.

Legislation
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 gave statutory responsibility to local authorities, the police,
and key partners to reduce crime and disorder in their communities. Under this, and
subsequent legislation, Community Safety Partnerships are required to carry out annual
audits and to implement crime reduction strategies.
The Police and Justice Act 2006 introduced scrutiny arrangements in the form of the Crime
and Disorder Scrutiny Committee, as well as introducing several amendments to the 1998
Act including the addition of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and substance misuse within the
remit of the CSP strategies. Reducing reoffending was subsequently added by the Policing
and Crime Act 2009. The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy)
Regulations 2007 set out further revisions to the 1998 Act.

The aim of the Strategic Assessment
The analysis of data provided by partners enables the partnership to set clear priorities for
the coming year.
Part 1 analyses police and partner data for last year’s priorities covering the period January
to December 2021, unless otherwise specified.
Funding for these priorities is provided, in large part, by the Kent Police and Crime
Commissioner in accordance with the priorities set out in his Safer in Kent: The Community
Safety and Criminal Justice Plan.
Part 2 draws some conclusions from the data and recommends the priorities for the
partnership for the forthcoming financial year.
It should be noted that some of the data provided in this document is
provisional and may undergo further revision.

Page

2 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 162

Appendix B

Analysis
All recorded crime
Current figures for the 12-month period January 2021 – December 2021, unless stated.
Level of Crime:

7,679 (previous period 7,830)

Peer Comparison: Best out of 12 Kent areas by population and volume
Annual Change:

A reduction of 151 crimes (-2%)

Kent comparison
Tunbridge Wells had the lowest overall crime rate in Kent for the given period, marginally
ahead of our West Kent neighbours Sevenoaks and Tonbridge and Malling.
A reduction of 778 crimes builds on the reduction of 345 crimes during the previous calendar
year (2019).
From the metric of ‘all crime’ Tunbridge Wells is the safest local authority area in Kent.

Three-year trend - per 1000 residents

Page

3 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 163

Appendix B
The table that follows shows a breakdown of reported incidents, the increase or decrease
since the last reporting period, and our county position. Subsequent pages provide further
details on key crime types and a ward breakdown.
Crime Type
All crime
Victim-based crime
Violence (VAP)
Sexual offences
Hate Crime
ASB Incidents
Burglary Residential
Criminal damage
Domestic abuse incidents
Drug offences
(Drug Trafficking)
(Drug Possession)
Robbery
Shoplifting
Theft from a motor vehicle
Theft of motor vehicle

This
Year
7,679
6,558
3,498
326
226
1,554
293
919
2,504
211
52
159
26
414
179
134

Last
Year
7,830
6,652
3,351
272
191
2,354
281
948
2,391
219
66
153
39
564
229
123

%
Change
-1.9%
-1.4%
4.4%
19.9%
18.3%
-34.0%
4.3%
-3.1%
4.7%
-3.7%
-21.2%
3.9%
-33.3%
-26.6%
-21.8%
8.9%

Number
change
-151
-94
147
54
35
-800
12
-29
113
-8
-14
6
-13
-150
-50
11

2020

2021

1
1
2
2
6
1
3
1
2
2
--=1
4
3
3

1
1
2
3
4
1
3
1
2
2
=3
2
=1
1
3
=2

*VAP = Violence against the Person

Noticeable in this data:
•
•
•
•

•

•

A near five percent rise in domestic abuse and VAP offences
An improvement in our county position for Hate Crime despite an overall increase
A sizeable reduction in reports of anti-social behaviour
Data for this period (less so than last year), is clearly influenced by the consequences
of lockdowns and other restrictions associated with the pandemic. To this end, where
possible throughout this report I have included data from 2019 as a further
comparison.
Reports of anti-social behaviour, in particular, saw steep monthly climbs and falls over
the past two years with much of the change associated with real or perceived
breaches of COVID-19 regulations. Violent crime increased by ~7% over the past two
years following a reduction of 7.5% in 2019. Domestic abuse reports increased by
4.7% in 2021 and 4.1% in 2020. By comparison incidents increased by around nine
percent in 2019.
Given the unusual conditions we experienced in 2020 and to a lesser degree, 2021, I
thought it might be helpful to present monthly data from 2019 alongside district and
ward data for key crime types in 2020 and 2021.

Page

4 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 164

Appendix B

Conclusion
This strategic assessment sets out the priorities that the Community Safety Partnership
should focus on in 2022/23 and helps us to determine what services should be funded.
Crime figures are, as always, presented with a number of caveats, particularly with respect to
long-term trends, and especially so for data related to 2020 and to a lesser degree 2021.
However, we are fortunate to live in an area where rates of crime and anti-social behaviour
are relatively low crime area and we’re pleased the data shows Tunbridge Wells to be the
safest place in Kent; albeit by small margins over our West Kent neighbours.

Domestic Abuse
During the 2021 calendar year domestic abuse reports made to Kent Police increased by
4.7%, similar to the increase in 2020 and close to half the increase experienced in 2019.
The impact of the pandemic on the difficult choices people have had to make over the past
two years cannot be underestimated. While domestic abuse reports to Kent Police remained
steady over the past two years, with occasion increases when conditions were relaxed,
DAVSS, we know, received record levels of referrals, helpline calls and high need cases over
the past 18-24 months resulting in a significant increase in emergency interventions and
complex safety planning.
The proportion of repeat victims contacting Kent Police also remained steady at around 24%
in 2021. It was 22% in 2020 when this metric was again made available following updates to
police computer systems.
By contract, and although it’s not a direct comparison, the repeat victimisation rate for
DAVSS clients (across West Kent) was 7% in Q1, 4% in Q2 and 8% in Q3. The low repeat
rate reported by DAVSS reinforces the known benefits of long-term wraparound support for
clients and their children.
Last year, the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 became law. This Act places a new burden on local
authorities to provide better support and safe accommodation for victims needing to leave
their home. For this we have received DLUHC funding which we have pooled with Tonbridge
and Malling to employ a DA Co-ordinator for FY 2022/23.
Given the focus on domestic abuse, the new Act, the continued rise in reporting (across the
county, not just Tunbridge Wells), the increased levels of support required (and provided, by
DAVSS and KIDAS) we propose to retain DA as a CSP priority.
We recommend Domestic Abuse is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Page

5 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 165

Appendix B

Drug Offences
A surprisingly modest rise over 2020 levels but we know from our Kenward partners that our
town centre open spaces, from parks to car parks, are popular hangouts for smokers and
drinkers, be they youths or young adults. We know this to be the case in other parts of the
borough also.
We also have an issue, either real or perceived, with spiking and ‘sticking’ in the NTE. This is
being addressed under the VAWG umbrella but the links to drugs and, possibly alcohol, is a
factor beyond VAWG given that we’ve also had reports of males being ‘stuck’.
We have also experienced an increase in reports of cannabis use in the home and garden –
reports regularly coming our way at morning briefings – which we look to tackle in partnership
with RSLs, where relevant, and through Community Protection Warnings.
In August, a 25yo South London drug dealer received a five-year prison sentence for
orchestrating a cocaine supply network into Tunbridge Wells. In January 2022 the
Community Policing Team stopped a driver on Mount Ephraim. He was searched and a
quantity of cocaine deals and some cash were seized. The man is from Newcastle. He was
arrested and more cocaine was found in his hotel room. He was charged with possession of
Class A drugs with intent to supply.
However, no identified county lines gangs were known to be active in Tunbridge Wells at the
time, as reported to members in September 2021 by Chief Inspector Changizi and Detective
Superintendent Shaun White. That was still believed to be the case in February 2022 when
this report was written.
There also appeared to be fewer issues related to cuckooing over the past 24-months or so,
whereby dealers from outside an area take over a resident’s home and use their property to
supply drugs to local dealers and others. With fewer opportunities for risk-free travel during
various lockdowns it would appear that drugs, specifically cannabis, were more often being
grown locally. This is an issue the CSU is sighted on almost daily through local intelligence
reports and morning briefings.
So, the issue of supply and demand has not gone away but perhaps the business model has
changed.
Also in January 2022, two men in their mid-20s were charged after a drugs raid on a property
in Rowan Tree Road where close to 250 cannabis plants were found. Both men were of no
fixed address and were charged with being concerned in the production of a controlled drug.
Again in January, the Community Policing Team executed a search warrant under the
Misuse of Drugs Act on a property in FOG. A motorbike reported stolen during a burglary in
Tonbridge was recovered and A 33-year-old man from Crowborough was arrested on
suspicion of cultivating cannabis, theft and handling stolen property.
As mentioned in a previous assessment, while the risk of being a victim of violence or knife
crime in this borough is very low, incidents of violence are closely linked to drug supply and
alcohol abuse.

Page

6 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 166

Appendix B

We have continued to deploy outreach workers to our open spaces and other key locations in
Tunbridge Wells, Paddock Wood and Cranbrook while partner agencies CGL and We Are
With You (formerly Addaction) are commissioned to address alcohol and substance addiction
with adults and young people referred into their service.
I think these three strands: drug use in the public realm, in the NTE and increasingly
emanating from residential properties (as well as the cultivation issue) is justification for
retaining Substance and Alcohol Abuse as a priority for 2022/23.
We recommend Substance and Alcohol Abuse is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Anti-social Behaviour
Anti-social behaviour decreased significantly with respect to 2020 levels with 800 fewer
reports. This was expected due to the high number of covid rule-breaking reports that came
our way in 2020, and to a lesser degree in 2021. But Tunbridge Wells, along with all LAs, has
seen a rise in ASB over 2019 levels.
Again, our popular open spaces and NTE attracts all ages, sometimes in high numbers, into
town and we’ve also experienced a fair amount of public ASB in Paddock Wood and, to a
lesser degree, in Cranbrook, as reported and recorded at morning briefings.
Anti-social behaviour in town centre areas is often linked to excess alcohol intake or drug use
in parks, car parks and other open spaces. Coupled with sensible use of deployable CCTV,
visible outreach resources such as Early Help, Salus and St Giles Trust play a key role in
maintaining Tunbridge Wells as a safe place to be.
That said, we are looking to implement Public Spaces Protection Orders in St John’s Park,
town centre multi-storey car parks and Sherwood Lake to address a range of anti-social
issues so it makes sense to retain anti-social behaviour as a priority for the coming year.
We have again included violence-related issues in this priority to ensure we are sighted on
the risks to the public, and young people themselves, of anti-social behaviour escalating to
more serious public disorder, or worse.
We recommend Anti-social Behaviour is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Road Safety
Road Safety data can be difficult to quantify, especially when collision and casualty numbers
are low – we have the lowest level of casualties across Kent and most of the subcategories
are on a downward trend.

Page

7 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 167

Appendix B
However, Under-16 KSIs (Killed or Seriously Injured) have been slowly creeping up, albeit in
very small numbers but we are now into double figures. Thankfully, of the eleven KSIs that
occurred from July to June none were fatal, so all were graded as seriously injured.
Of the two fatalities that occurred between Jan and Sep 2021, one was a motorcyclist and
the other a car drivers, both were aged between 25-64.
We do have a near-miss reporting tool on the Council website. We’ve received 187 reports,
which we are slowly working our way through. At first pass, in an attempt to categorise them,
most appear to relate to dangerous driving or poor visibility from inconsiderate parking. What
we propose to do over the coming months is to try to match the Under-16 KSIs with reports
made to the near-miss register. This will require a deeper dive into the KSI stats by Kent
Highways. A request has been made.
Given that we may be able to generate a project or two from the near miss register I would
propose we retain road safety as a priority.
We recommend Road Safety is retained as a priority for 2022/23.

Violence Against Women and Girls
While we don’t have any specific offence data of note, we added VAWG as a priority in Q3 of
2021/22 because of significant concern for female safety in the public realm after high-profile
tragedies caught the national interest. It would also allow us to capture the work already
being done in the borough to address anti-social and violent issues in our public spaces and
NTE venues.
We also received reports from the PCC VAWG survey and the Home Office’s StreetSafe
Reporting Tool. StreetSafe received 38 reports for Tunbridge Wells (27 submitted by females
and 11 by males). Our mapping team have converted the report co-ordinates into map
locations so that we may see if there’s anything we can do to improve the locations that these
reports would wish to bring to our attention.
The issues most frequently mentioned on the reports are
•
•
•
•

Poor or no street lighting
Restricted visibility
Signs of drug or alcohol use
Absence of CCTV

We’re hopeful that another round of Safer Streets Funding will be made available this year
and this data, along with the PCC’s own survey results, may help to support any applications
we might consider.
We propose we retain VAWG as a priority for 2022/23 as we have a solid action plan and
there’s still much work to do around the theme.

Page

8 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 168

Appendix B
Recommended Priorities for 2022/23
1. Domestic Abuse
2. Substance Misuse and Supply, and Alcohol Abuse (inc. violence-related issues and
knife crime)
3. Anti-social and High-risk Behaviour (including violence-related issues)
4. Road Safety
5. Violence Against Women and Girls

Page

9 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Page 169

Action Plan 2022/23
Priority 1: Domestic Abuse
Action
1.1

1.2

Page 170

1.3

1.4

1.6

Continue to work with shared services
and other local authorities to ensure
joined up working, value for money and
positive outcomes.
Provide the sanctuary scheme to victims
of DA, securing properties to allow them
to remain in their own home.
Implement Tunbridge Wells One Stop
Shop (virtual or otherwise).

Page

10 of 20

Kent CDAP

Number of perpetrators
supported through CDAP
(quarterly reporting).

Housing Options,
Look Ahead,
DAVSS.

Requirements of the Act met
by those agencies with DA
accommodation
responsibilities.
Evidenced thru the joint West
Kent action plan and
quarterly meetings.

WK DA Forum,
DAVSS and KCC
commissioned
services
TWBC Housing,
Look Ahead
Look Ahead, Kent
Police

Number of properties
secured.
Service availability and
accessed by residents.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Outcome

Appendix B

1.5

Provide DA support services to men and
women at all levels of risk. Prioritise
high-risk cases to a Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Conference (MARAC). Run
(or refer women to) the appropriate
awareness and support programmes.
Provide support to male perpetrators of
domestic abuse to change their
behaviour through the Community
Domestic Abuse Programme (CDAP).
Implement the safe accommodation
requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act
2021.

Primary
Measure
agency/agencies
DAVSS
No. of helplines calls,
referrals managed, number
of programmes run (quarterly
reporting).

1.7

Seek White Ribbon accreditation for
TWBC

CST and TWBC
Depts.

Accreditation granted.

1.8

Collaborate with the Mediation and
Domestic Abuse Network.

DAVSS, Look
Ahead, TWBC
Community
Safety Team.
Look Ahead

Attend workshops and
ensure the resource is
promoted to TW residents
and relevant professionals.
Number of programmes run
and number of attendees
from Tunbridge Wells.
Tunbridge Wells hi-risk
victims accessing the funding
as necessary.

1.9

Run a suite of survivor programmes for
female and male survivors, including:
“Own My Life” and “Hope 2 Recovery”
1.10 Provide emergency funding for items
such as furniture, white goods, food and
travel to high-risk victims in the
community.
1.11 Seek to ensure the twice monthly cyberstalking clinic is kept running

Look Ahead

Look Ahead, PAS

Page 171

1.12 Commission PAS (Protection Against
Stalking) to deliver a stalking workshop.

Look Ahead

1.13 Ensure DA services identify stalking and
refer/signpost to PAS where appropriate.

PAS, DA service
providers

1.14 Training and awareness raising sessions
for partners and local businesses.

DA Service
providers

Funding/staffing secured and
continued provision of the
clinic.
Workshop delivered and
attended by Tunbridge Wells
based clients.
PAS receiving referrals or
confident that they will
receive them as necessary.
Sessions delivered and good
partner and business
attendance.

Appendix B

Page

11 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Priority 2: Substance Misuse and Supply, and Alcohol Abuse (inc. violencerelated issues and knife crime)
Action
2.1

2.2

2.3

Page 172

2.4

2.5

2.6

Carry out targeted work for those
identified with substance-related
offending/ASB.
Provide drug and alcohol misuse
services for 10 to 17-year olds including
1:1 and group work.
Ensure links between local regular
shoplifters and substance/alcohol abuse
are identified and appropriately
addressed.
Tackle Organised Criminal Gangs
(OCGs) that target Tunbridge Wells
residents.

Page

12 of 20

Trading
Standards, CAP,
TWBC (CSU),
Kent Police
Street Pastors

CGL

Outcomes

Action plan developed and
programmes in place to
address concerns. Bi-monthly
meetings.
Number of people engaged,
service provided and hours
on duty.
Individuals engaged thru
group and 1:1 work.

We Are With You

Number of young people
worked with.

Kent Police, STP

Links identified and referrals
made or signposting offered.

Kent Police

Gangs identified and
perpetrators arrested.
Monitored at the monthly
OCG meeting.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix B

2.7

To deploy substance misuse workers to
hotspots within the borough as a
presence and carry out one-to-one and
group work with YPs.
Implement the Community Alcohol
Partnership (CAP) action plan to address
issues around underage drinking in
Tunbridge Wells (resource dependent)
Provide a positive presence in the nighttime economy.

Primary
Measure
agency/agencies
Kenward Trust, St Number of individuals
Giles Trust
engaged with and locations
visited. Quarterly reporting.

Priority 3: Anti-social and High-risk Behaviour (including violence-related
issues)
Action

Page 173

3.1

Liaise with partners to share knowledge
and awareness of young people and the
open spaces they use. Deploy outreach
to areas where risk is identified.

3.2

Organise summer and autumn ‘all out’
events for Tunbridge Wells and
surrounding towns using DCSM
intelligence to focus resources.
Identify graffiti-taggers through improved
overt CCTV surveillance (fixed and
deployable) and GIS mapping.

3.3

Encourage speedier removal of graffiti
on public and private property.

3.5

Provide graffiti cleaning kits to
businesses and residents (as
appropriate).
Targeted engagement with schools and
Pupil Referral Units and other educators
on risky behaviour and similar themes.

3.6

Page

13 of 20

TWBC CST, KCC
Early Help, Kent
Police, CCTV Ops
CST, Street
Scene,
developers,
property owners
CST

CST, DCSM, KCC
Early Help, Kent
Police, Kenward
Trust

Measure

Outcome

Actions identified at monthly
District Contextual
Safeguarding Meetings
(DCSM), Vulnerability Board
meetings, and morning
briefings.
Events run, YP’s engaged
with and outcomes
evaluated.
Strategic camera
deployments and TWBC
CCTV Operations support.
Number of persons detected.
Tags in high profile locations
identified and landowners
encouraged to remove them
quickly.
Taken up by those in need.

Number of schools engaged
on topics such as alcohol,
drugs, gangs, CSE, and
associated anti-social
behaviour.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix B

3.4

Primary
agency/agencies
TWBC Community
Safety Team
(CST), KCC Early
Help, Kent Police
and outreach
partners
CST, KCC Early
Help, Kent Police

3.7
3.8

Use deployable CCTV to assist with the
prevention/detection of crime and ASB.
Target specific individuals causing ASB
in Tunbridge Wells, Cranbrook and
Paddock Wood.

3.9

Page 174

Assess the needs for knife amnesty
events at key locations across the
borough.
3.10 Develop multi-agency action plans to
ensure appropriate levels of frontline
staffing in the public realm during
summer months and other key dates.
3.11 Consider partnership ops to address
shoplifting and town centre anti-social
behaviour thru PCC funding
3.12 Ensure Crimestoppers and Fearless
contact details are widely promoted as a
safe reporting mechanism.
3.13 Work with Culture Team to create a
programme of engagement for young
people to tie in with Early Help and CSU.

TWBC, Kent
Police
TWBC Community
Safety Officer,
Kent Police ASB
Officers
Community
Policing Team,
TWBC CST
CSU Officers
(TWBC, KCC,
Kent Police, STP
and other partners
Safe Town
Partnership (STP),
TWBC (CSU), BID
All relevant
agencies

Culture Team, EH
and CSU

Locations identified and
supported.
Appropriate warnings and
Acceptable Behaviour
Agreements (ABAs) etc
served and complied with.
Need identified and events
organised.
Agency attendance and
engagement. Reduction in
reports of anti-social
behaviour.
Number of ops run and
noticeable outcomes
achieved.
Crimestoppers/Fearless
logos and contact details
included in relevant
engagement materials.
Programme created and
relevant young people taking
up the opportunity.

Appendix B

Page

14 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Priority 4: Road Safety
Action
4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Page 175

4.5

4.6

4.8

Page

15 of 20

KFRS, CSU

TWBC Comms &
Community Safety
Team (CST)

Measure
Projects completed and
feedback provided.
Number of schools visited
where underage drinking
formed part of the delivery.
Number of campaigns
supported.

CST, KRFS

Number of
presentations/activities.

CSU, KCC
Wardens

Number and type of
engagements, attendee
numbers.

KCC Wardens

Attendance at suitable
gatherings.

CSU, Dave Allen

Number of schools/students
attends. Student/school
feedback.
Number of Tunbridge Wells
students attending.

CSU, Project Salus

Outcomes

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix B

4.7

Education in schools and community
groups to include various KFRS-led
programs.
Engage KFRS to support CAP priorities
when delivering RS messages to
schools
Work with KCC and KFRS to promote
messages locally and link in with
national and local campaigns including
Road Safety Week.
During Road Safety Week: Provide
safety message to primary school
children. Organise a public engagement
activity with partners to address all road
users.
Direct KCC Warden public engagement
opportunities on road safety topics,
particularly around schools (resource
dependent)
Engage KCC Warden service to raise
road safety awareness with over-65s at
appropriate clubs and coffee mornings
etc.
Run Captain Safety event during Road
Safety Week for KS1 and KS2 students,
regulations permitting.
Contribute funding for Safety in Action
event for Yr 6 students transitioning to
high school.

Primary
agency/agencies
KFRS, KCC
Wardens

4.9

Page 176

Use the Near Miss Register, Highways
resources and publicly available crash
data to identify accident hot spots for
targeted operations.
4.10 Direct TWBC Parking Enforcement team
to attend schools when parking-related
complaints are received.
4.11 Push out regular and creative messages
around the “fatal four”: Speed, Alcohol,
Mobiles, Seatbelts.
4.12 Engage with the Community Speed
Watch Co-ordinator and active/inactive
local Speed Watch Groups.

CSU and partners

4.13 Build an intelligence picture around offroad motorcycle nuisance for local
attention and for bidding into the County
Road Safety Team for specific and
targeted operations.
4.14 Bid into the Central (County) Road
Safety Team for operations in the
borough of Tunbridge Wells re nuisance
and speeding vehicles (i.e. North Farm)
4.15 ‘On spec’ enforcement operations by
local Community Policing Team or CSU
Constables

Kent Police

CSU and TWBC
parking staff

Better identification of
repeat or vulnerable
locations and appropriate
attendance.
Attendance at key locations.

TWBC CST and
Comms

Messages delivered in
various formats

Kent Police, TWBC
CST

To gain a fuller picture of
this road safety provision
and their concerns for
further joint working.
Gather data re nuisance
calls from the public and
local councillor concerns
raised with the Community
Safety Team.
Number of bids made and
operations taking place in
the borough.

Kent Police

Kent Police

Number and location of
operations undertaken.

Appendix B

Page

16 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Priority 5: Violence, including VAWG and NTE-related issues
Action
5.1

5.2

5.3

Page 177

5.4

5.5

Use Safe Town radios to prevent and
detect violent crime, by sharing
intelligence between
licensees/retailers, CCTV Ops and
police.
Use static CCTV to assist with the
prevention and detection of violent
crime.
Use deployable CCTV to assist with
preventing and detecting violent
crime.

Undertake Environmental Visual
Audits in locations identified as
‘unsafe’ or vulnerable for residents,
particularly in relation to VAWG.

Page

17 of 20

TWBC, CCTV,
Kent Police

Violent offences
monitored.

Kent Police,
Community
Safety Team and
partners

Deployment of CCTV
cameras to key areas
where vulnerabilities
have been identified
(funding dependent)
EVAs completed and
reports produced and
shared with relevant
partners

Kent Police,
Community
Safety Team

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Outcomes

Appendix B

5.6

Provide a positive presence in NTE
paying particular attention to lone
females (and males) showing clear
signs of vulnerability.
Exclude individuals convicted of
violence offences from Pubwatch
members' licensed premises.

Primary
Measure
agency/agencies
Street Pastors
Number of people
engaged and any actions
taken to assess or
reduce risk.
Safe Town
Number of exclusions in
Partnership
force.
(STP), CCTV,
Kent Police
STP, TWBC
Pubwatch instigated
CCTV, Kent
incidents monitored by
Police
CCTV.

5.7

Page 178

Kent Police, STP

Number of training
sessions offered.

CSU, Safe Town
Partnership

Availability and use of
wands in NTE/DTE
operations.

Community
Safety Team

Deployment of ETPs

Kent Police, STP

5.11 Ensure licensing visits are joined-up
with appropriate agencies in
attendance.

Kent Police /
TWBC Licensing,
STP, CST

5.12 Ensure Kent Police Schools Officers
are relaying positive violence-related
messaging in places of learning and
are escalating issues of concern to
relevant partners.

Kent Police,
DCSM, EH

5.13 Promote the Kent Police / Home
Office reporting tools for recording
spaces where people, especially
women and girls, feel unsafe.

Community
Safety Team and
TWBC Comms

Issues fed back to
licence holder and
shared with relevant
organisations.
Joint visits undertaken
and relevant information
shared with interested
parties
Police Officers are able
to influence messaging in
schools and are
signposting and sharing
concerns with partner
agencies
Promotion through
various means and
outcomes received from
the tool.

Page

18 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

.

Appendix B

Provide training to licensed premises
around responsibilities when
serving/refusing alcohol and dealing
with aggressive customers.
5.8 Use VRU-funded metal-detecting
wands to ensure knives are not
brought to pubs and clubs or carried
around town.
5.9 Distribute VRU-funded Emergency
Trauma Packs (ETPs) to key
locations.
5.10 Assess CCTV provision (inc.
coverage and quality of recordings)
at key late-opening NTE venues.

Page 179

Community
Safety Team,
Digital Team

5.15 Engage the new Family Matters ISVA
(Independent Sexual Violence
Advisor) with individuals raised at
relevant meetings.
5.16 Work with partners to address
disorder at NTE venues that are a
frequent source of disorder, but may
not breach licence conditions.
5.17 Promote “Ask for Angela” initiative

CST, Family
Matters

5.18 Op Heart and Pre-Christmas
activities.

All partners

5.19 Secure funding for Stalking Safety
Packs (ala Victim Support) for both
protection and evidence gathering.
5.20 Consider joint funding a West Kent
(inc. Maidstone) Young Person’s
ISAC (Independent Stalking
Advocacy Caseworker).
5.21 Support the Kent Police VAWG
Strategy thru FY 2022/23 (as and
when it is published).

PAS, Community
Safety Team, KP

Page

19 of 20

CST, Kent Police,
Safe Town
Partnership,
TWBC Licensing
STP and partners

PAS, CST

All partners

Availability of reporting
tool and commitment to
assess reports and take
appropriate actions.
Attendance at relevant
Safeguarding and OCG
meetings, referrals made.
A reduction in the no. of
reports or an improved
perception of safety at
NTE venues.
NTE venue take-up and
public awareness of the
initiative.
Undertake NTE
Engagements and
opportunities to promote
safety in RTW.
Funding secured, kits put
together, and distributed
as required.
Role defined and funding
secured (min 12 mo).

Relevant aspects of the
strategy picked up by
partner agencies.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix B

5.14 Implement a local reporting tool for
residents to report public spaces
where they feel unsafe or vulnerable.

5.22 Undertake an environmental visual
audit (EVA) at Dunorlan Park to look
for safety improvements in the area
recently designated for unleashed
dogs.

TWBC, Kent
Police Crime
Reduction Officer

Assess and address any
recommendations that
result.

Page 180

Appendix B

Page

20 of 20

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Community Safety Partnership Plan 2022-23 and Summary Strategic
Assessment 2021-22
Date of publication – 10 March 2022
Revision: 3

Agenda Item 11

Urgent Business
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be
stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page

1 of 1

Page 181

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Urgent Business

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

Date of the Next Meeting
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
To note that the next scheduled meeting is Wednesday 25 May 2022 (Annual Cabinet)

Page

1 of 1

Page 183

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Date of the Next Meeting

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex

Exempt Appendix to Amelia Scott
Budget and Update (Item 8)
For Cabinet on Thursday 14 April 2022

Procedural Item
The following documents are exempt from disclosure by virtue of:
Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information
relating to any individual.

Page

1 of 1

Page 185

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Exempt Appendix to Amelia Scott Budget and Update (Item 8)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Document is Restricted

Page 187

This page is intentionally left blank

